

THE UNIVERSITY of EDINBURGH

Edinburgh Research Explorer

Scattering of conformal higher spin fields

Citation for published version:

Adamo, T, Nakach, S & Tseytli, AA 2018, 'Scattering of conformal higher spin fields', *Journal of High Energy Physics*, vol. 2018, 16. https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP07(2018)016

Digital Object Identifier (DOI):

10.1007/JHEP07(2018)016

Link: Link to publication record in Edinburgh Research Explorer

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Published In: Journal of High Energy Physics

General rights

Copyright for the publications made accessible via the Edinburgh Research Explorer is retained by the author(s) and / or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing these publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

Take down policy The University of Edinburgh has made every reasonable effort to ensure that Edinburgh Research Explorer content complies with UK legislation. If you believe that the public display of this file breaches copyright please contact openaccess@ed.ac.uk providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: May 12, 2018 ACCEPTED: June 20, 2018 PUBLISHED: July 3, 2018

Scattering of conformal higher spin fields

Tim Adamo, Simon Nakach and Arkady A. Tseytlin¹

Theoretical Physics Group, Blackett Laboratory, Imperial College London, SW7 2AZ, U.K. E-mail: t.adamo@imperial.ac.uk, simon.nakach09@imperial.ac.uk, tseytlin@imperial.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: We develop a formalism for describing the most general notion of tree-level scattering amplitudes in 4d conformal higher spin theory. As conformal higher spin fields obey higher-derivative equations of motion, there are many distinct on-shell external states which may contribute to their scattering, some of which grow polynomially with time, leading to ill-defined amplitudes. We characterize the set of admissible scattering states which produce finite tree amplitudes, noting that there are more such states than just standard massless higher spins obeying two-derivative equations of motion. We use conformal gravity as a prime example, where the set of scattering states includes the usual Einstein graviton and a 'ghost' massless spin 1 particle. An extension of the usual spinor helicity formalism allows us to encode these scattering states efficiently in terms of 'twistor-spinors'. This leads to compact momentum space expressions for all finite tree-level 3-point amplitudes of conformal higher spin theory. While some of these 3-point amplitudes vanish (including all those with only standard two-derivative higher spin external states), there are many others which are non-vanishing. We also comment on the generalization to scattering of conformal higher spins in AdS_4 .

KEYWORDS: Scattering Amplitudes, Higher Spin Symmetry

ARXIV EPRINT: 1805.00394



¹Also at Lebedev Institute, Moscow.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Free higher-derivative fields and the S-matrix	3
	2.1 Tree-level scattering in higher-derivative theories	4
	2.2 Linearized spectrum of conformal gravity	5
	2.2.1 Conformal gauge	6
	2.2.2 Transverse gauge	7
	2.2.3 Two-derivative formulation of conformal gravity	8
	2.3 Scattering states in CHS theory	10
3	Twistor-spinor representation of states of conformal gravity	11
	3.1 Twistor-spinors and linearised Bach equations	11
	3.2 Momentum eigenstates	14
	3.3 Polarizations and double copy	17
4	3-point amplitudes in conformal gravity	19
5	Free fields and 3-point amplitudes in CHS theory	22
	5.1 Free fields and momentum eigenstates	22
	5.2 3-point amplitudes of CHS theory	25
6	Scattering in AdS background	27
\mathbf{A}	Helicity structure of conformal graviton modes	31
в	Counting CHS degrees of freedom	32
С	Deriving 3-point amplitudes from twistor space	34

1 Introduction

Conformal higher spin (CHS) theory (see, e.g., [1-14]) is a formally consistent higher spin model that has a local action with a flat-space vacuum that generalizes spin 1 Maxwell theory and spin 2 Weyl gravity to all spins.¹ Locality for a symmetric traceless higher-spin field $\phi_s = (\phi_{a_1...a_s})$ implies the presence of 2s derivatives in the kinetic term and thus non-unitarity. Despite this, there are many reasons why CHS theory is an interesting topic for study, including its good UV behaviour, relationship with other conformal field theories and higher-spins in anti-de Sitter space (cf. [3, 15–19]).

 $^{^1\}mathrm{In}$ this paper we only consider the case of 4 dimensions and bosonic integer spin fields.

In such a higher-derivative theory, the definition of asymptotic states and scattering amplitudes is non-trivial. Given the free spin s > 1 CHS equation in transverse traceless gauge $\Box^s \phi_s = 0$, one can always choose a special solution $\phi_s^{(0)}$ satisfying the 2-derivative spin s equation $\Box \phi_s^{(0)} = 0$. The latter has further on-shell gauge invariance which reduces the number of independent solutions to the two of the standard massless spin s particle. These massless spin s degrees of freedom may be interpreted as 'physical' ('unitary') ones while the rest of the s(s+1) degrees of freedom of a CHS field are ghost-like.²

Ignoring the fact that the 'physical' and 'ghost' degrees of freedom do not actually separate on a flat background (in particular, in the sense of Hilbert space of asymptotic states [22]), it is natural to define the CHS scattering amplitudes by keeping only those standard massless spin s modes on external lines [11, 12]. This is equivalent to defining the scattering amplitudes with the usual, two-derivative LSZ reduction. The underlying infinite-dimensional symmetry algebra of the CHS theory appears to imply that the corresponding tree-level S-matrix is trivial [11, 12, 23].

One may wonder if, at least at tree-level, a more general definition of the CHS S-matrix is possible. That is, can the space of scattering states be extended to also include some of the 'ghost' modes leading to non-vanishing scattering amplitudes? This is the question we address in this paper. As we shall see, in a momentum representation one can separate the set of 'ghost' modes into oscillating modes and modes whose curvature grows in time. The latter lead to formally infinite contributions to the on-shell action or tree-level scattering amplitudes and thus appear to be unsuitable for scattering. However, the oscillating modes can be included, along with the massless modes, into the set of admissible scattering states.

With this extended definition for the tree-level S-matrix, one still faces the obstacle of finding an efficient formalism for encoding the on-shell scattering states. Unlike a twoderivative theory in four dimensions, an on-shell CHS state is not uniquely specified by its momentum, spin, and positive/negative helicity label. Additional 'polarization' data is required to distinguish how a spin s state decomposes into the s(s + 1) degrees of freedom of CHS theory.

We observe that this issue can be resolved by augmenting the standard spinor helicity formalism to include states carrying a spinor index of the conformal group. Such indices are also known as twistor indices. The resulting twistor-spinor formalism allows us to encode all on-shell states of CHS theory, and can be used to provide compact expressions which capture all finite tree-level 3-point amplitudes of the theory. This is analogous to the way in which massive states can be described by augmenting the spinor helicity formalism to include spinor indices of the little group [24-26].

The plan of the paper is as follows: in section 2, we give the generalised definition of the tree-level S-matrix in CHS theory and clarify which external states are admissible for scattering. We focus in detail on the example of conformal gravity, where in addition to the massless spin 2 Einstein graviton there is also an oscillating 'ghost' spin 1 mode which

²For example, in the case of the conformal gravity with C^2 action this separation becomes obvious upon adding to the action an Einstein R term or by switching on a constant curvature resulting in the ghost mode decoupling from the spin 2 Einstein one (and becoming massive in the first case [20] and partially massless [21] in the second).

can be used as a scattering state.³ We then describe the scattering states for a generic spin s CHS field.⁴

In general, the separation of the field potential into 'oscillating' and 'growing' modes is gauge-dependent, even though the characterisation of scattering states is not. In section 3 we give a useful gauge-invariant description of scattering states in conformal gravity based on the corresponding curvatures. The resulting twistor-spinor formalism encodes all onshell states of conformal gravity. We also comment on the relation between polarization tensors, curvatures, and the double-copy representation of conformal gravity in terms of a 4-derivative vector theory [28].

Using the twistor-spinor formalism, we give an expression for all 3-point tree amplitudes (with complexified kinematics) in conformal gravity in section 4. By evaluating this expression on specific on-shell states, we find that the only non-vanishing 3-point amplitudes in conformal gravity involve two spin 1 states and one Einstein graviton; these are essentially the same as in the Einstein-Maxwell theory. Section 5 extends the twistor-spinor formalism to generic spin s CHS fields, and we obtain an expression for all 3-point tree amplitudes of CHS theory.

In section 6, we consider the generalisation to CHS scattering in a background with a cosmological constant. We comment on the structure of on-shell states and evaluate our expressions for 3-point amplitudes for massless higher spin states in an AdS₄ background. Appendix A describes the helicity structure of linearised conformal gravity in the two gauges discussed in section 2. Appendix B explains the counting of on-shell CHS degrees of freedom and scattering states in terms of curvatures. Appendix C contains a derivation of the 3-point CHS amplitudes from the formulation of CHS theory in twistor space [10, 12].

2 Free higher-derivative fields and the S-matrix

External states in any scattering process are given by free field solutions of the equations of motion. A free bosonic CHS gauge field in 4 dimensions is a rank s totally symmetric tensor $\phi_{a_1\cdots a_s}(x) = \phi_{a(s)}(x)$ defined up to linearised gauge transformations

$$\delta\phi_{a(s)} = \partial_{(a_1}\epsilon_{a_2\cdots a_s)} + \eta_{(a_1a_2}\alpha_{a_3\cdots a_s)}, \qquad (2.1)$$

which are the spin s generalisation of infinitesimal local diffeomorphisms (parametrized by $\epsilon_{a(s-1)}$) and conformal transformations (parametrized by $\alpha_{a(s-2)}$). The free field equation can be written as $P^{a(s)b(s)}\phi_{b(s)} = 0$, where $P^{a(s)b(s)}$ is a transverse and traceless differential operator of order 2s which is totally symmetric in its indices [1].

Since spin s CHS fields satisfy higher-derivative equations of motion, they contain many more on-shell degrees of freedom (d.o.f.) than ordinary two-derivative fields. Indeed,

 $^{^{3}}$ The oscillating mode corresponding to the massless spin 1 state is ghost-like as it originates from a time-like component of the metric fluctuation and thus contributes with negative sign to the energy.

⁴Related work describing possible 3-point vertices for higher derivative spin 0 and 1 conformal fields in general dimension using a 2-derivative formulation [5, 6] (and thus including effectively all modes as external states) appeared in [27].

at spin s there are s(s + 1) on-shell d.o.f. Many of these s(s + 1) d.o.f. correspond to growing modes with polynomial (rather than pure oscillatory) asymptotic behaviour.

Two of the d.o.f. correspond to the standard two-derivative massless higher spin fields, which sit trivially inside the space of solutions to the linearised CHS equations. These twoderivative solutions are *not* the only on-shell states in CHS theory which are suitable for scattering in Minkowski space. There are other on-shell states which are pure oscillatory *and* obey the higher-derivative equations of motion in a strict sense, satisfying the linear CHS equation of order 2s without solving some other equation which is of order 2 in derivatives.

2.1 Tree-level scattering in higher-derivative theories

The notion of scattering amplitudes in higher derivative theories is fraught with potential issues, but at tree-level an elementary definition can be applied as long as there is an associated action functional. In two-derivative theories, tree-level scattering amplitudes can be defined by simply computing the multi-linear part of the classical action evaluated on a particular solution which is built (recursively) from superpositions of solutions to the free equations of motion with specified asymptotic behaviour [29, 30]. For instance, a 3-point amplitude is obtained by extracting the coefficient of $\varepsilon_1 \varepsilon_2 \varepsilon_3$ from the classical action evaluated on

$$\Phi^{[3]}(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{3} \varepsilon_i \,\phi_i(x) \,, \tag{2.2}$$

while a 4-point amplitude is the coefficient of $\varepsilon_1 \cdots \varepsilon_4$ in the action evaluated on

$$\Phi^{[4]}(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{4} \varepsilon_i \phi_i(x) + \int \mathrm{d}^d y \,\Delta(x,y) \left. \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{int}}}{\delta \Phi}(y) \right|_{\Phi = \sum_{i=1}^{4} \varepsilon_i \phi_i}.$$
 (2.3)

Here, the $\{\phi_i\}$ are free field solutions which can be expanded in a basis of plane waves, $\Delta(x, y)$ is the propagator (i.e., the inverse of the kinetic operator in the action), and \mathcal{L}_{int} is the interaction part of the Lagrangian.

For a higher-derivative theory, the same procedure can be used; the only subtlety is what free field solutions $\{\phi_i\}$ to use as the external states. As a toy example, consider a four-derivative scalar theory on a flat background

$$S = S_0 + S_{\text{int}}, \qquad S_0 = \frac{1}{2} \int d^4 x \, (\Box \phi)^2, \qquad S_{\text{int}} = \frac{1}{6} \lambda \int d^4 x \, \phi^3.$$
 (2.4)

 S_0 is conformally invariant with the scalar assigned the conformal weight zero and the coupling λ has mass dimension 4. The free equation of motion

$$\Box^2 \phi = 0 \tag{2.5}$$

admits a two-parameter (A, B) family of solutions in terms of plane waves:

$$\phi(x) = (A + B n \cdot x) e^{i k \cdot x}, \qquad k^2 = 0, \qquad (2.6)$$

where n^a is an arbitrary time-like vector (i.e. $n \cdot k \neq 0$, e.g., $n^a = (1, 0, 0, 0)$). The mode parametrized by B then grows linearly in time; this is precisely the *growing* mode expected for a generic theory with higher-derivative equations of motion (cf. [31]).

The pure oscillatory A-modes in (2.6) are clearly suitable for scattering — they are just the usual plane wave solutions to the two-derivative wave equation. The growing B-modes, on the other hand, lead to un-defined (or divergent) amplitudes even at treelevel. Evaluated on three oscillatory external states, S_{int} gives the expected finite 3-point amplitude of a cubic scalar theory (we ignore the overall numerical factors)

$$\mathcal{M}_3 \sim \lambda \, \delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{i=1}^3 k_i \right).$$

However, if one of the external states is a growing mode, one finds from (2.4)

$$\mathcal{M}_3 \sim \lambda \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \, n \cdot x \, \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i} \, (k_1 + k_2 + k_3) \cdot x} \,, \tag{2.7}$$

which is undefined. One can interpret this 'amplitude' in a purely distributional sense as

$$\mathcal{M}_3 \sim -\mathrm{i}\lambda \, n \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial K} \, \delta^{(4)} \! \left(\sum_{i=1}^3 k_i \right), \qquad \qquad K^a := (k_1 + k_2 + k_3)^a \,, \tag{2.8}$$

and similarly for the 3-point interactions involving two or three of the growing modes. But if one wishes to obtain finite tree-level amplitudes, supported on overall 4-momentum conservation, it is clear that the growing modes must be excluded from the set of allowed external states.

This motivates a definition of the S-matrix in a higher-derivative theory: tree-level scattering amplitudes are given by extracting the same multi-linear piece of the action as usual, with the added constraint that the free fields $\{\phi_i\}$ are solutions of the equations of motion which lead to *finite*, *momentum-conserving* amplitudes. The modes which this definition singles out as admissible external states will be referred to as the set of *scattering states* of the theory. In the case of the conformal scalar theory (2.4), the set of scattering states is precisely the ordinary plane waves.

2.2 Linearized spectrum of conformal gravity

Based on the example of the four-derivative conformal scalar, it is tempting to assume that the scattering states in a generic higher-derivative theory are simply the two-derivative zero-rest-mass fields of appropriate spin. Indeed, one might conclude that the space of spin s scattering states in CHS theory is composed of only two-derivative massless spin s free fields; this would mean that there are only two such modes for each spin, one each of helicity $\pm s$ [32]. This, in turn, would indicate that the definition for the tree-level S-matrix is actually equivalent to that of two-derivative theories: the standard two-derivative LSZ reduction singles out all of the admissible scattering states on the external legs.

If this were the case, the tree-level S-matrix of CHS theory would be rather trivial: there is strong evidence that all amplitudes of such two-derivative external states in CHS theory are zero [11, 12, 23, 33, 34].⁵ Fortunately, there are other scattering states in CHS theory; we now explain how to define them in a gauge-invariant manner.

The truncation of CHS theory to the spin 2 sector serves to capture all essential features of the problem of classifying higher-derivative, higher-spin scattering states. The corresponding non-linear theory is *conformal gravity*, a four-derivative theory of gravity governed by the action

$$S[g] = \frac{1}{2\varepsilon^2} \int d^4x \sqrt{|g|} C_{abcd} C^{abcd}, \qquad (2.9)$$

where ε is a dimensionless coupling constant and C_{abcd} is the Weyl curvature tensor of the metric. The s = 2 version of the linearised gauge freedom (2.1) on a flat background is

$$\delta h_{ab} = \partial_a \epsilon_b + \partial_b \epsilon_a + \eta_{ab} \,\alpha \,, \tag{2.10}$$

with the gauge parameters ϵ_a and α encoding local diffeomorphisms and conformal transformations, respectively.

Conformal invariance can always be used to fix a traceless gauge for linear perturbations, $h_a^a = 0$, with the remaining gauge freedom

$$\delta h_{ab} = \partial_a \epsilon_b + \partial_b \epsilon_a - \frac{1}{2} \eta_{ab} \partial^c \epsilon_c \,. \tag{2.11}$$

To determine the modes of the theory, one must fix this gauge freedom and find the solutions of the linearised equations of motion.

2.2.1 Conformal gauge

One such gauge-fixing is 'conformal' gauge [36]:

$$V_c := \frac{1}{3} \partial^a \partial^b \partial_c h_{ab} - \Box \partial^a h_{ac} = 0, \qquad h_a^a = 0.$$
(2.12)

It has the benefit of reducing the free equations of motion of conformal gravity around a Minkowski background, which are

$$\Box^2 h_{ab} + \partial_a V_b + \partial_b V_a - \frac{1}{2} \eta_{ab} \partial^c V_c = 0, \qquad (2.13)$$

to the spin-2 analogue of (2.5):

$$\Box^2 h_{ab} = 0. \tag{2.14}$$

It is easy to see that plane wave solutions to this equation are given by

$$h_{ab} = (A_{ab} + B_{ab} n \cdot x) e^{i k \cdot x}, \qquad k^2 = 0, \qquad (2.15)$$

where n^a again is a time-like vector and A_{ab} and B_{ab} are symmetric traceless constant tensors related by four algebraic constraints following from (2.12):

$$(n \cdot k) \operatorname{B}_{cb} k^{b} - \frac{\mathrm{i}}{4} k^{a} k^{b} \operatorname{A}_{ab} k_{c} = 0.$$
(2.16)

⁵For discussions of relations between the Einstein and Weyl actions see also [5, 35].

These conditions do not completely fix the freedom in A_{ab} , B_{ab} ; there are residual gauge transformations of the form

$$\delta \mathbf{A}_{ab} = \mathbf{i} \left(u_a k_b + u_b k_a - \frac{1}{2} \eta_{ab} \, u \cdot k \right) + v_a n_b + v_b n_a - \frac{1}{2} \eta_{ab} \, v \cdot n \,, \tag{2.17}$$
$$\delta \mathbf{B}_{ab} = \mathbf{i} \left(v_a k_b + v_b k_a - \frac{1}{2} \eta_{ab} \, v \cdot k \right) \,,$$

where u_a , v_a are constant vectors. Thus there are $2 \times 9 - 4 = 14$ independent parameters in A_{ab} , B_{ab} , and 8 residual gauge transformations parametrized by u_a , v_a . This implies that there are six overall on-shell d.o.f., matching the known counting for conformal gravity [37, 38].

The residual gauge freedom can be used to distribute these six d.o.f. in such a way that A_{ab} contains four while B_{ab} contains two. It can be shown (see appendix A) that the two d.o.f. in B_{ab} have helicity ± 2 , while the four in A_{ab} have helicity ± 1 and ± 2 [36]. The helicity ± 2 modes in A_{ab} are precisely the Einstein gravitons, which form a consistent two-derivative sub-sector of the theory.

At this point, one might naïvely say that we have characterised the scattering states of conformal gravity: the modes encoded by A_{ab} are pure oscillatory and therefore suitable for scattering, while those in B_{ab} are growing and will not lead to well-defined amplitudes. But this is statement is premature: the decomposition of the modes into growing and oscillatory metric perturbations is not gauge invariant!

2.2.2 Transverse gauge

To see this, consider instead of the conformal gauge (2.12) the transverse gauge

$$\partial^a h_{ab} = 0, \qquad h_a^a = 0.$$
 (2.18)

In this gauge the free equations of motion still take the form (2.14), so that h_{ab} is again given by (2.15). However, instead of the constraints (2.16), now the symmetric traceless matrices A_{ab} , B_{ab} must obey

$$k^a B_{ab} = 0, \qquad i k^a A_{ab} + n^a B_{ab} = 0.$$
 (2.19)

It is straightforward to show that there is a residual gauge freedom parametrized by a single constant vector u^a :

$$\delta \mathbf{A}_{ab} = \mathbf{i} \left(u_a k_b + u_b k_a - \frac{2}{5} \eta_{ab} u \cdot k \right) - \frac{\mathbf{i} \, u \cdot k}{5 \, n \cdot k} \left(k_a n_b + k_b n_a \right) \,, \tag{2.20}$$
$$\delta \mathbf{B}_{ab} = \frac{2 \, u \cdot k}{5 \, n \cdot k} \, k_a k_b \,.$$

Once again, this leaves us with six on-shell d.o.f.: $2 \times 9 - 2 \times 4 - 4 = 6$. In this case A_{ab} and B_{ab} each encode modes of helicity ± 2 , but the helicity ± 1 modes are encoded by a linear combination of *both* matrices, i.e. the spin-1 modes appear to pick up a growing part (see appendix A for details).

This seems to contradict what we found in the conformal gauge (2.12), where the spin-1 modes were purely oscillatory. The resolution of this apparent paradox lies in the fact that we are trying to characterise the scattering states by looking at metric perturbations, which are not gauge invariant. Instead, we should look at the linearised curvature tensors associated with h_{ab} , where the decomposition into modes is independent of the gauge choice.

It is clear that if a metric perturbation is purely oscillatory, then its associated (linearised) curvature tensor will also be purely oscillatory. In conformal gauge, this means that the curvatures associated with the helicity ± 2 Einstein graviton modes and the helicity ± 1 modes are purely oscillatory while the curvature associated with the helicity ± 2 modes encoded by B_{ab} contains linearly growing terms. In the transverse gauge, the Einstein modes have the same pure oscillatory curvatures, and the spin-2 modes encoded by B_{ab} have the same growing curvatures. The spin-1 modes are encoded by a metric perturbation of the form (cf. appendix A)

$$h_{ab} \sim (1 - 2in \cdot x)S_{ab} + (1 + 2in \cdot x)\tilde{S}_{ab},$$
 (2.21)

where S_{ab} , \tilde{S}_{ab} are constant matrices whose entries are determined by n_a and k_a . A priori, the curvature associated with (2.21) could have a linearly growing piece, but an explicit calculation shows that these growing terms cancel. The remaining oscillatory curvature of course matches what was found in conformal gauge.

2.2.3 Two-derivative formulation of conformal gravity

To get another perspective on the spectrum of states in conformal gravity, it is useful to consider its 2-derivative reformulation by introducing extra fields in addition to the metric. This is a generalization of replacing the 4-derivative scalar Lagrangian $\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}(\Box \phi)^2 + V(\phi)$ by an equivalent one with two independent fields: $\mathcal{L}' = \varphi \Box \phi - \frac{1}{2}\varphi^2 + V(\phi)$. The equations following from \mathcal{L}' are $\Box \phi = \varphi$ and $\Box \varphi = 0$ so that φ is an oscillating mode while ϕ contains both oscillating and growing modes, with the scale of the latter being related to φ . Thus from the point of view of the original $\Box^2 \phi = 0$ theory the field φ represents the growing mode and should not be included in the set of asymptotic states.

Observing that in 4 dimensions the Weyl Lagrangian C^2 in (2.9) is the same (up to a total derivative) as

$$\mathcal{L}_W = 2\sqrt{|g|} \left(R_{ab}^2 - \frac{1}{3}R^2 \right),$$
 (2.22)

one can introduce an auxiliary tensor φ_{ab} to rewrite it in the $\varphi R - \varphi^2$ form. Alternatively, one may start with a formulation of Weyl gravity as a gauge theory of the SO(2, 4) conformal group [39] ending up with [5]

$$\mathcal{L}'_W = -\sqrt{|g|} \left[\varphi^{ab} \hat{G}_{ab} + \frac{1}{4} (\varphi^{ab} \varphi_{ab} - \varphi^a_a \varphi^b_b) + \frac{1}{4} F^{ab} F_{ab} \right] \,. \tag{2.23}$$

Here φ_{ab} is related to the gauge potential corresponding to the conformal boosts, $F_{ab} = \partial_a b_b - \partial_b b_a$ is the field strength of the gauge potential b_a of dilatations and

$$\hat{G}_{ab} \equiv R_{ab} - \frac{1}{2}g_{ab}R + \nabla_{(a}b_{b)} + \frac{1}{2}b_{a}b_{b} - g_{ab}\left(\nabla^{c}b_{c} - \frac{1}{4}b^{c}b_{c}\right), \qquad (2.24)$$

where ∇_a is covariant derivative corresponding to g_{ab} . Integrating out φ_{ab} in (2.23) one finds (ignoring total derivatives) that all dependence on \mathbf{b}_a cancels out and one recovers the Weyl Lagrangian (2.22).

The reason for the decoupling of b_a is that the action for (2.23) is invariant, in addition to the usual reparametrizations and Weyl rescalings of the metric $\delta g_{ab} = \lambda g_{ab}$, under

$$\delta\varphi_{ab} = 2\nabla_{(a}\zeta_{b)} + 2\mathbf{b}_{(a}\zeta_{b)} - g_{ab}\mathbf{b}^{c}\zeta_{c}, \qquad \qquad \delta\mathbf{b}_{a} = \partial_{a}\lambda - \zeta_{a}. \tag{2.25}$$

Here ζ_a is the parameter of gauge transformations corresponding to local conformal boosts. One can fix this symmetry by setting $b_a = 0$, but instead one may impose a gauge condition on φ_{ab} .

The linearised equations of motion for the fields $h_{ab} = g_{ab} - \eta_{ab}$, φ_{ab} and b_a that follow from (2.23) are

$$\varphi_{ab} = -2\left(\hat{G}_{ab} - \frac{1}{3}g_{ab}\hat{G}_c^c\right) = -2\left(R_{ab} - \frac{1}{6}g_{ab}R\right) - 2\partial_{(a}\mathbf{b}_{b)} + \dots, \qquad (2.26)$$

$$\Delta_2 \varphi_{ab} + \ldots = 0, \qquad (2.27)$$

$$\partial^a F_{ab} + \partial^a \varphi_{ab} - \partial_b \varphi_c^c + \ldots = 0 . \qquad (2.28)$$

Here $R_{ab} = -\frac{1}{2}\Box h_{ab} + \partial_{(a}\chi_{b)} + O(h^2)$, $\chi_a = \partial^b h_{ab} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_a h$ and we defined Δ_2 as the linearized Einstein operator: $R_{ab} - \frac{1}{2}g_{ab}R = \frac{1}{2}\Delta_2 h_{ab} + O(h^2)$, $\Delta_2 = -\Box + \cdots$. Fixing the reparametrizations and Weyl rescalings by the TT gauge (2.18) on h_{ab} and fixing the ζ_a -symmetry (2.25) by the harmonic gauge on φ_{ab}

$$\partial^a h_{ab} = 0, \quad h^a_a = 0; \qquad \quad \partial^a \varphi_{ab} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_b \varphi^c_c, \qquad (2.29)$$

it follows from eqs.(2.26),(2.27) (and their traces and derivatives) that

$$\Box h_{ab} = \varphi_{ab} + 2\partial_{(a}b_{b)} ; \qquad \Box \varphi_{ab} = 0 , \qquad \varphi_a^a + 2\partial^a b_a = 0 ; \qquad \Box b_a = 0 , \qquad (2.30)$$

with (2.28) satisfied automatically. Using the on-shell gauge invariance of φ_{ab} we may then set $\varphi_a^a = 0$ and thus $\partial^a b_a = 0$.

We then conclude that φ_{ab} describes a massless purely-oscillating graviton mode, \mathbf{b}_a describes a massless vector, and h_{ab} contains the Einstein graviton part plus a growing mode as in (2.15) with the polarization tensor \mathbf{B}_{ab} of the latter being related as in (2.30) to the polarization tensors of φ_{ab} and \mathbf{b}_a via the ζ -gauge invariant combination $\varphi_{ab} + 2\partial_{(a}\mathbf{b}_{b)}$ (cf. (2.25)). This way we recover the 2+2+2=6 count of on-shell degrees of freedom, with the scattering states being represented by the Einstein graviton \mathbf{A}_{ab} -part of h_{ab} in (2.15) and by the massless vector \mathbf{b}_a .

An advantage of the 2-derivative representation (2.23) in terms of the 3 fields h_{ab} , φ_{ab} and b_a is that it formally extends off-shell and also to the non-linear level. In particular, it is implied by the structure of (2.23) that the 3-point scattering of one Einstein graviton contained in h_{ab} (A-mode) and two massless vectors described by b_a should be the same as in Einstein-Maxwell theory, since such a vertex may only come from the $F_{ab}F_{ac}h_{bc}$ term in (2.23). We shall reach the same conclusion via a different route in section 4 below. It would be interesting also to use the 2-derivative action (2.23) to compute the 4-point amplitudes involving the vector \mathbf{b}_a .

2.3 Scattering states in CHS theory

To summarize the above discussion, the gauge-invariant characterisation of scattering states is in terms of their curvatures. Those modes which, in a plane wave basis, lead to purely oscillatory linearised curvature tensors are the suitable states for scattering. This is true even when, in a particular gauge, their potentials are growing. The space of scattering states in conformal gravity therefore contains two helicity ± 2 states (Einstein graviton) as well as two helicity ± 1 states (spin-1 mode).

From now on, we refer to a mode as 'growing' ('oscillatory') if the mode's curvature is growing (oscillatory) in a plane wave basis. For CHS fields with s > 2, the number of scattering states (or purely oscillatory modes) increases with s. The s(s + 1) on-shell d.o.f. for a free spin-s CHS field [1] can be divided equally into positive and negative helicity. Let $\nu_{s,h}$ be the number of on-shell d.o.f. in a negative helicity spin-s CHS field which correspond to helicity -h, where $h = 1, \ldots, s$. For s = 2, we saw that $\nu_{2,1} = 1$, $\nu_{2,2} = 1 + 1 = 2$. In general, one can show that

$$\nu_{s,h} = h \,, \tag{2.31}$$

which is consistent with the overall degree of freedom counting in the negative helicity sector:

$$\sum_{h=1}^{s} \nu_{s,h} = \frac{1}{2} s(s+1) .$$
(2.32)

Since the equations of motion are of order 2s in derivatives, many of these states will correspond to modes which grow at least linearly and at most of order (s - 1) in time. The number of such modes increases quadratically with s, so that for $s \ge 3$ there are more growing modes than oscillatory modes. Writing $\nu_{s,h} = \hat{\nu}_{s,h} + \nu_{s,h}^{\circ}$, where $\hat{\nu}_{s,h}$ is the number of growing modes for the spin s CHS field of helicity -h, it can be shown that (see appendix B)

$$\hat{\nu}_{s,h} = h - 1 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \hat{\nu}_s := \sum_{h=1}^s \hat{\nu}_{s,h} = \frac{1}{2} s(s-1),$$
(2.33)

where $\hat{\nu}_s$ is the total number of growing d.o.f. at spin s. This indicates that the spin s field contains $\nu_s^{\circ} = s$ purely oscillatory modes, and it follows that these are distributed such that there is a single one at each integer helicity $-1, \ldots, -s$. This decomposition is derived in appendix B from the structure of linearised field strengths. It is also consistent with the 2-derivative formulation of CHS fields [5, 6]⁶ and with the structure of the free CHS partition function [8].

⁶Let us note that a 2-derivative formulation is known for all CHS fields but so far only at the quadratic level [6]. The existence of such a 2-derivative local action at an interacting level is an open question for s > 2. One may still attempt to construct interacting 3-point vertices using an indirect light-cone approach as developed for low s < 2 spins in any dimension in [27].

In summary, the set of spin-s scattering states in CHS theory contains 2s different kinds of modes: one each of helicity $\pm 1, \pm 2, \ldots, \pm s$. The helicity $\pm s$ states are precisely the two-derivative massless higher spin fields; the others arise as oscillatory solutions of the higher-derivative CHS equations of motion.

3 Twistor-spinor representation of states of conformal gravity

Having established that the standard two-derivative LSZ-type reduction misses out admissible asymptotic scattering states in a higher-derivative theory, a natural question is: how can the various different modes of a higher-derivative field be distinguished at the level of the free field? In this section, we develop a formalism that allows us to isolate the on-shell modes of conformal gravity, which serves as a toy example of conformal higher spin theory. Indeed, the formalism extends naturally to CHS fields of all integer spins.

The basic idea is that CHS fields are most naturally represented in terms of objects which carry *twistor* indices, as well as the usual spinor indices familiar from the spinor helicity formalism. These objects are simply tensors upon which a conformally invariant connection acts covariantly.⁷ After demonstrating how the free field equations of conformal gravity are recovered in this 'twistor-spinor' formalism, we show how the d.o.f. decomposition is achieved for momentum eigenstates.

3.1 Twistor-spinors and linearised Bach equations

The free field equations of conformal gravity written in terms of the metric fluctuation h_{ab} in (2.13) can also be written in terms of the linearised Weyl tensor C_{abcd} of h_{ab} as

$$\partial^a \partial^d C_{abcd} = 0, \qquad (3.1)$$

which are often known as the linearised Bach equation.

In four dimensions, the Weyl tensor decomposes into the self-dual (SD) and anti-selfdual (ASD) parts, given by totally symmetric spinors $\tilde{\Psi}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}}$ and $\Psi_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}$, respectively. At the linear level, this is equivalent to the statement that the fluctuation h_{ab} can be decomposed into positive and negative helicity parts. The free field equations for these helicity sectors are then

$$\partial^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\,\partial^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\,\widetilde{\Psi}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} = 0\,,\qquad \partial^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\,\partial^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\,\Psi_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = 0\,,\tag{3.2}$$

with $\Psi_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}}$ corresponding to a positive helicity perturbation and $\Psi_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}$ a negative helicity perturbation. Spinor indices are raised and lowered using the 2d Levi-Civita symbols $\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}$, $\epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}$, etc.

Solutions to the standard zero-rest-mass equations of linearised Einstein gravity,

$$\partial^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \widetilde{\Psi}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} = 0, \qquad \partial^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \Psi_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = 0, \qquad (3.3)$$

are trivially solutions to the four-derivative Bach equations (3.2), so Einstein gravitons form a subsector of the solutions. But of course there are other solutions to the Bach equations which are not strictly two-derivative in nature.

 $^{^{7}}$ This connection is alternatively known as the local twistor connection or Cartan conformal connection on space-time [40–42].

Let us introduce a new kind of index, called a *twistor index*, which can be carried by space-time fields (cf. [43, 44]).⁸ Twistor indices are equivalent to $SL(4, \mathbb{C})$ spinor indices, and will be denoted by A, B, C, \ldots ; the four values of the index are decomposed into 2-spinors of opposite chirality. For instance, rank one covariant and contravariant twistor fields are decomposed into spinor fields as:

$$T_A(x) = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{t}_{\dot{\alpha}}(x) \\ t^{\alpha}(x) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad S^A(x) = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{s}^{\dot{\alpha}}(x) \\ s_{\alpha}(x) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.4)

Twistor indices can be paired with ordinary spinor indices, with the constraint that components of the resulting field are trace-free, for instance,

$$T_{A\beta} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{t}_{\dot{\alpha}\beta} \\ t^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad t^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} = 0.$$
(3.5)

The key property of twistor indices is that they are acted on by a particular conformallyinvariant connection on space-time, known as the (local) twistor connection or Cartan conformal connection. On any 4d space-time, this twistor connection is given locally by

$$\mathbf{D}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \nabla_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} + \mathscr{A}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \,, \tag{3.6}$$

where $\nabla_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$ is the Levi-Civita connection and the 1-form \mathscr{A} takes values in the (complexified) conformal algebra $\mathfrak{sl}(4,\mathbb{C})$. In terms of geometric data, the potential \mathscr{A} is

$$\left(\mathscr{A}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\right)^{B}{}_{C} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \delta^{\gamma}_{\alpha} \, \delta^{\dot{\beta}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \\ -P_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}\beta\dot{\gamma}} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (3.7)$$

where $P_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}\gamma\dot{\beta}}$ is the Schouten tensor,

$$P_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}\beta\dot{\gamma}} := \Phi_{\alpha\beta\dot{\alpha}\dot{\gamma}} - \Lambda \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\gamma}} , \qquad (3.8)$$

written in terms of the trace-free Ricci curvature $\Phi_{\alpha\beta\dot{\alpha}\dot{\gamma}}$ and scalar curvature Λ of the Levi-Civita connection. The action of this connection on twistor-indexed quantities is given by the rule:

$$D_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}T^B = \nabla_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}T^B + (\mathscr{A}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}})^B{}_C T^C, \qquad D_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}S_B = \nabla_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}S_B + (\mathscr{A}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}})_B{}^C S_C, \qquad (3.9)$$

and the action on higher valence twistor indices can be deduced by the Leibniz rule (cf. [44]).

The reasons for considering twistor-valued objects on space-time are two-fold. First of all, objects with twistor indices are spinors of the conformal group and the twistor connection is itself conformally invariant. This is evident from the curvature of the connection:

$$[\mathbf{D}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}},\,\mathbf{D}_{\beta\dot{\beta}}] = (F_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}\beta\dot{\beta}})^{C}{}_{D} = \begin{pmatrix} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\,\widetilde{\Psi}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}\dot{\delta}}^{\dot{\gamma}} & 0\\ (\epsilon_{\beta\alpha}\nabla_{\gamma}{}^{\dot{\rho}}\widetilde{\Psi}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}\dot{\delta}\dot{\rho}} + \epsilon_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\alpha}}\nabla_{\dot{\delta}}{}^{\rho}\Psi_{\alpha\beta\gamma\rho}) \epsilon_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\alpha}}\,\Psi_{\alpha\beta\gamma}{}^{\delta} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3.10)$$

⁸More precisely, this will be a *local twistor index*, corresponding to a field valued in a rank four vector bundle over space-time whose fibres are copies of the (flat) twistor space of Minkowski space-time. We drop the 'local' prefix for much of this paper, as we are not concerned with comparison to global twistors.

which is conformally covariant. Hence, this formalism is ideally suited to describing a conformally invariant theory such as conformal gravity. The second reason is that first-order equations of motion with respect to the local twistor connection often correspond to higher-derivative equations on the components of a twistor-valued object [45, 46].

Consider a twistor-spinor field of the form

$$\Gamma_{A\beta\gamma\delta} = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{\dot{\alpha}\beta\gamma\delta} \\ \Psi^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma\delta} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (3.11)$$

where $\Gamma_{A\beta\gamma\delta} = \Gamma_{A(\beta\gamma\delta)}$ and the component $\Psi^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma\delta}$ obeys

$$\Psi^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha\gamma\delta} = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \Psi_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = \Psi_{(\alpha\beta\gamma\delta)} \,. \tag{3.12}$$

Let us treat $\Gamma_{A\beta\gamma\delta}$ as a linear field on Minkowski space-time, and impose a free equation of motion using the twistor connection in (3.6):

$$D^{\beta\beta}\Gamma_{A\beta\gamma\delta} = 0. \tag{3.13}$$

From (3.7) and (3.9) this is equivalent to a system of equations for the components of $\Gamma_{A\beta\gamma\delta}$:

$$\partial^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\gamma_{\dot{\alpha}\beta\gamma\delta} = 0, \qquad \partial^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\Psi^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma\delta} - \gamma^{\dot{\beta}\alpha}{}_{\gamma\delta} = 0.$$
(3.14)

The second of these equations defines $\gamma_{\dot{\alpha}\beta\gamma\delta}$ in terms of $\Psi_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}$ on-shell, which can be substituted back into the first equation to give

$$\partial^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\,\partial^{\beta\beta}\,\Psi_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = 0\,,\tag{3.15}$$

i.e. the negative helicity free-field equation of conformal gravity in (3.2).

A similar story holds for the positive helicity free field equation. In this case, one has a twistor-spinor field

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}^{A}{}_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} = \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{\Psi}^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} \\ \widetilde{\gamma}_{\alpha\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \widetilde{\Psi}^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} = 0, \qquad (3.16)$$

obeying an equation of motion

$$\mathbf{D}^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\,\widetilde{\Gamma}^{A}{}_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} = \begin{pmatrix} \partial^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\widetilde{\Psi}^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} - \widetilde{\gamma}^{\beta\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} \\ \partial^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\widetilde{\gamma}_{\alpha\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} \end{pmatrix} = 0\,, \qquad (3.17)$$

in Minkowski space. Just like the negative helicity case, the coupled equations (3.17) imply that $\tilde{\Psi}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}\dot{\alpha}\dot{\delta}}$ obeys the positive helicity free field equation of conformal gravity.

It should be noted that there is also a description of *non-linear* conformal gravity in terms of the twistor connection. Indeed, conformal gravity is equivalent, at the non-linear level, to a gauge theory of the twistor connection, with the Bach equations given by the Yang-Mills equations of the twistor connection [47].

3.2 Momentum eigenstates

To see the counting of on-shell states, it is useful to go to a momentum eigenstate basis to find solutions of (3.13) and (3.17). Consider a negative helicity field constructed as:

$$\Gamma_{A\beta\gamma\delta} = B_A \,\lambda_\beta \,\lambda_\gamma \,\lambda_\delta \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\,k\cdot x}\,,\tag{3.18}$$

where $k_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \lambda_{\alpha}\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ is an on-shell (massless) 4-momentum.⁹ The operator $B_A = (\tilde{B}_{\dot{\alpha}}, B^{\alpha})$ is a *helicity lowering operator*, since its role is to convert the helicity $-\frac{3}{2}$ Rarita-Schwinger field into a negative helicity conformal gravity field (which must include helicity -2 fields). Its components have mass dimension

$$[\tilde{B}_{\dot{\alpha}}] = \frac{1}{2}, \qquad [B^{\alpha}] = -\frac{1}{2}, \qquad (3.19)$$

as dictated by conformal invariance.

The components of this operator are constrained by a single condition, which descends from the twistor geometry underlying the construction (cf. [22, 34]). Define the following twistor-indexed differential operator, which acts on on-shell momenta:

$$C^A := \left(-i \frac{\partial}{\partial \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}}, \, \lambda_{\alpha} \right) \,. \tag{3.20}$$

The condition imposed on $\Gamma_{A\beta\gamma\delta}$ is

$$C^A \Gamma_{A\beta\gamma\delta} = 0. aga{3.21}$$

Assuming that the components of B_A obey

$$\frac{\partial B^{\alpha}}{\partial \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}}} = 0, \qquad \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\beta \dot{\beta}}} \tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}} \tilde{B}_{\dot{\alpha}} = 0, \qquad (3.22)$$

the constraint (3.21) becomes a simple PDE in on-shell momentum space:

$$\frac{\partial B_{\dot{\alpha}}}{\partial \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}} + i \,\lambda_{\alpha} \,B^{\alpha} = 0\,. \tag{3.23}$$

This can be solved for $\tilde{B}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ to give:

$$\tilde{B}_{\dot{\alpha}} = \frac{\partial B}{\partial \tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}}} - \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2} \,\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} \lambda_{\alpha} \,B^{\alpha} \,, \tag{3.24}$$

which reduces the d.o.f. to three, parametrized by $\{B, B^{\alpha}\}$, matching the on-shell counting for conformal gravity discussed above.

Since there are three total d.o.f., we should be able to construct three distinct states by making different choices for $\{B, B^{\alpha}\}$. These choices are, of course, constrained by the fact that the resulting fields must satisfy the equations of motion. To begin, consider a negative

⁹Our conventions for the 4-dimensional spinor helicity formalism follow [48]. Dotted SL(2, \mathbb{C}) spinor indices are positive chirality, un-dotted SL(2, \mathbb{C}) spinor indices are negative chirality and we use the notation: $[\tilde{\lambda}\tilde{\beta}] \equiv \tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\beta}} \tilde{\beta}_{\dot{\beta}} = \tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\beta}} \tilde{\beta}^{\dot{\alpha}} \epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}, \quad \langle\beta\lambda\rangle \equiv \beta^{\beta}\lambda_{\beta} = \beta^{\beta}\lambda^{\alpha} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta}, \text{ etc.}$

helicity Einstein graviton: this is a field whose Weyl spinor $\Psi_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}$ trivially satisfies (3.15) by virtue of obeying the zero-rest-mass equation $\partial^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\Psi_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = 0$.

By singling out this two-derivative solution inside the space of solutions to the fourderivative Bach equations, mass scales are introduced by necessity. One of these is the coupling constant of Einstein gravity $\kappa = \sqrt{8\pi G_N}$: the coupling ε of conformal gravity in (2.9) is dimensionless, whereas κ has mass dimension -1. Furthermore, conformal gravity cannot distinguish between Minkowski space and (A)dS₄, since these backgrounds are related by a conformal transformation. Selecting the Einstein solution therefore introduces a cosmological constant Λ , of mass dimension +2. Since we consider a Minkowski background, this corresponds to $\Lambda = 0$.

With this in mind, a negative helicity Einstein graviton corresponds to $B^{\alpha} \propto \lambda^{\alpha}$; it remains to determine the constant of proportionality. Since B^{α} has mass dimension $-\frac{1}{2}$, the dimensionful scales of this solution allow us to fix $B^{\alpha} = \kappa \lambda^{\alpha}$. The equations of motion set B to a constant of mass dimension +1, but no such object can be constructed from the spinors and scales at hand. Thus, we set B = 0. In summary, the Einstein mode corresponds to:

Einstein:
$$\{B, B^{\alpha}\} = \{0, \kappa \lambda^{\alpha}\}, \quad B_A = \kappa \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ \lambda^{\alpha} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3.25)$$

leading to the usual negative helicity Einstein graviton:

$$\Psi_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = \kappa \,\lambda_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}\lambda_{\gamma}\lambda_{\delta} \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\,k\cdot x} \,. \tag{3.26}$$

There are two other linearly independent solutions, which solve the 4-derivative equations of motion. The first of these is specified by the choice of a constant, mass dimension $-\frac{1}{2}$ spinor a^{α} which satisfies $\langle a \lambda \rangle \neq 0$ and carries the opposite little group weight to λ_{α} . This state is referred to as a 'spin-1' state:

Spin-1:
$$\{B, B^{\alpha}\} = \{0, a^{\alpha}\}, \quad B_A = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{i}{2} \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} \langle a \lambda \rangle \\ a^{\alpha} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.27)

Taking into account the mass dimension and little group weight of a^{α} , it is easy to see that the field strength

$$\Psi'_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = a_{(\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}\lambda_{\gamma}\lambda_{\delta)} e^{ik\cdot x}$$
(3.28)

corresponds to a helicity -1 mode. Note that although this is a solution of the Bach equation (without solving any lower-derivative equations), it is a suitable state for scattering since it is purely oscillatory.

The third linearly independent solution is the growing state:

Growing:
$$\{B, B^{\alpha}\} = \left\{ [\tilde{\lambda}\,\tilde{\beta}], \, x^{\alpha\dot{\beta}}\tilde{\beta}_{\dot{\beta}} \right\}, \quad B_A = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\beta}_{\dot{\alpha}} - \frac{i}{2}\langle\lambda|x|\tilde{\beta}]\,\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} \\ x^{\alpha\dot{\beta}}\tilde{\beta}_{\dot{\beta}} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3.29)$$

which is specified by a choice of a constant, mass dimension $+\frac{1}{2}$ spinor $\hat{\beta}_{\dot{\alpha}}$. Since the linearised field strength grows linearly with x:

$$\Psi^{\rm g}_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = \lambda_{(\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}\lambda_{\gamma} x_{\delta)}{}^{\dot{\alpha}}\tilde{\beta}_{\dot{\alpha}} \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\,k\cdot x}\,, \qquad (3.30)$$

such growing states must be excluded from the set external states in defining an S-matrix.

The construction for the positive helicity sector proceeds in a similar fashion. In this case, the conformal gravity field is constructed from a helicity $+\frac{3}{2}$ Rarita-Schwinger field via a *helicity raising operator* A^A

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}^{A}{}_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} = A^{A}\,\widetilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}}\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\gamma}}\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\delta}}\,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\,k\cdot x}\,,\qquad A^{A} = (\widetilde{A}^{\dot{\alpha}},\,A_{\alpha})\,. \tag{3.31}$$

This field obeys a constraint

$$\widetilde{C}_A \,\widetilde{\Gamma}^A{}_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} = 0\,, \qquad (3.32)$$

in terms of the momentum space differential operator

$$\widetilde{C}_A := \left(\widetilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}, -i \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_{\alpha}} \right) \,. \tag{3.33}$$

With some elementary assumptions, this translates into a condition on the components of A^A

$$i\,\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}\,\tilde{A}^{\dot{\alpha}} + \frac{\partial A_{\alpha}}{\partial \lambda_{\alpha}} = 0\,, \qquad (3.34)$$

which can be solved for A_{α} :

$$A_{\alpha} = \frac{\partial \tilde{A}}{\partial \lambda^{\alpha}} - i \frac{\lambda_{\alpha}}{2} \,\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} \,\tilde{A}^{\dot{\alpha}} \,. \tag{3.35}$$

As expected, there are three d.o.f. parametrized by $\{\tilde{A}, \tilde{A}^{\dot{\alpha}}\}$. The various objects appearing in the definition of the helicity raising operator have mass dimensions

$$[\tilde{A}^{\dot{\alpha}}] = -\frac{1}{2}, \qquad [A_{\alpha}] = \frac{1}{2}, \qquad [\tilde{A}] = 1,$$
(3.36)

as dictated by conformal invariance.

The decomposition of these three d.o.f. into distinct states is accomplished in the same way as in the negative helicity case. The result is one Einstein, one spin-1 and one growing mode:

Einstein:
$$\{\tilde{A}, \tilde{A}^{\dot{\alpha}}\} = \left\{0, \kappa \tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}}\right\}, \qquad A^A = \kappa \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (3.37)$$

Spin-1:
$$\{\tilde{A}, \tilde{A}^{\dot{\alpha}}\} = \{0, \tilde{a}^{\dot{\alpha}}\}, \qquad A^A = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{a}^{\dot{\alpha}} \\ -\frac{i}{2}\lambda_{\alpha} [\tilde{a} \tilde{\lambda}] \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.38)

Growing:
$$\{\tilde{A}, \tilde{A}^{\dot{\alpha}}\} = \{\langle \lambda \beta \rangle, x^{\gamma \dot{\alpha}} \beta_{\gamma} \}, \qquad A^{A} = \begin{pmatrix} x^{\gamma \dot{\alpha}} \beta_{\gamma} \\ \beta_{\alpha} - \frac{i}{2} \langle \beta | x | \tilde{\lambda}] \lambda_{\alpha} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.39)

The constant spinors appearing in this decomposition have mass dimensions

$$[\beta_{\alpha}] = \frac{1}{2}, \qquad [\tilde{a}^{\dot{\alpha}}] = -\frac{1}{2}, \qquad (3.40)$$

and the corresponding field strengths are:

$$\widetilde{\Psi}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} = \kappa \,\widetilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}\widetilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}}\widetilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\gamma}}\widetilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\delta}} \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\,k\cdot x} \,, \qquad \widetilde{\Psi}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}}' = \widetilde{a}_{(\dot{\alpha}}\widetilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}}\widetilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\gamma}}\widetilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\delta})} \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\,k\cdot x} \,, \qquad (3.41)$$

$$\widetilde{\Psi}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}}^{\mathrm{g}} = \widetilde{\lambda}_{(\dot{\alpha}}\widetilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}}\widetilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\gamma}} \,x^{\alpha}{}_{\dot{\delta})}\beta_{\alpha} \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\,k\cdot x} \,.$$

It is easy to see that in each case, the positive helicity fields are simply the helicity conjugates of their negative helicity counterparts.

One could worry that the constant spinors a_{α} , $\tilde{a}_{\dot{\alpha}}$, β_{α} , $\tilde{\beta}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ correspond to additional d.o.f., but this is not the case. Indeed, the conditions

$$\langle a \, \lambda \rangle \neq 0 \,, \quad \langle \beta \, \lambda \rangle \neq 0 \,, \quad [\tilde{a} \, \tilde{\lambda}] \neq 0 \,, \quad [\tilde{\beta} \, \tilde{\lambda}] \neq 0 \,,$$

already fix each spinor up to a scale. The $\beta_{\alpha}, \tilde{\beta}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ spinors can then be fixed as

$$\beta_{\alpha} = a_{\alpha} \left\langle \beta \lambda \right\rangle, \qquad \tilde{\beta}_{\dot{\alpha}} = \tilde{a}_{\dot{\alpha}} \left[\tilde{\beta} \, \tilde{\lambda} \right], \qquad (3.42)$$

with scalar products $\langle \beta \lambda \rangle$, $[\tilde{\beta} \tilde{\lambda}]$ setting the overall scale.

In summary, the twistor-spinor formalism provides an easy way to capture all of the d.o.f. of conformal gravity in a way that is manifestly conformally invariant. The helicity raising/lowering operators serve as 'polarizations': by selecting which d.o.f. appear in the operator, we can single out the individual states of the on-shell theory.

3.3 Polarizations and double copy

To enable comparison with the results obtained in the twistor-spinor formalism, it will be useful to have expressions for the scattering states of conformal gravity in terms of the standard metric perturbation h_{ab} . Since the growing states are excluded from this class, this entails finding polarization tensors for the Einstein graviton and spin-1 modes of the conformal gravity field. To do this, we write

$$h_{ab} = \varepsilon_{ab} \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\,k\cdot x}\,,\tag{3.43}$$

for some constant polarization ε_{ab} , and assume that the mass dimension $-\frac{1}{2}$ spinors a^{α} , $\tilde{a}^{\dot{\alpha}}$ appearing in (3.27) and (3.38) are normalized to obey

$$\langle a \,\lambda \rangle = 1 = [\tilde{a}\,\tilde{\lambda}]\,. \tag{3.44}$$

This normalization can be viewed as expressing $a^{\alpha} = \frac{\omega^{\alpha}}{\langle \omega \lambda \rangle}$ in terms of a dimensionless spinor ω^{α} . Then the polarization tensors for negative and positive helicity Einstein modes are given respectively by:

$$\varepsilon_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}\beta\dot{\beta}}^{(-2)} = \lambda_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}\,\tilde{a}_{\dot{\alpha}}\tilde{a}_{\dot{\beta}}\,,\qquad \varepsilon_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}\beta\dot{\beta}}^{(+2)} = \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}}\,a_{\alpha}a_{\beta}\,,\tag{3.45}$$

which are the usual expressions for Einstein graviton polarizations in the spinor helicity formalism. It is a straightforward exercise to calculate the linearised curvature tensors associated with these polarizations,

$$R_{abcd}^{(-2)} = \epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} \epsilon_{\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} \lambda_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}\lambda_{\gamma}\lambda_{\delta} e^{i\,k\cdot x}, \qquad R_{abcd}^{(+2)} = \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \epsilon_{\gamma\delta} \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}} \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\gamma}} \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\delta}} e^{i\,k\cdot x}, \qquad (3.46)$$

confirming that they correspond to negative and positive helicity Einstein gravitons. Note that all dependence on the constant spinors a^{α} , $\tilde{a}^{\dot{\alpha}}$ drops out at the level of the gauge invariant field strengths, as required in the Einstein sector.

As for the spin-1 sector, we can take the same polarization tensors as those used in [22]:

$$\varepsilon_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}\beta\dot{\beta}}^{(-1)} = \lambda_{(\alpha}a_{\beta)}\,\tilde{a}_{\dot{\alpha}}\tilde{a}_{\dot{\beta}}\,,\qquad \varepsilon_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}\beta\dot{\beta}}^{(+1)} = \tilde{\lambda}_{(\dot{\alpha}}\tilde{a}_{\dot{\beta})}\,a_{\alpha}a_{\beta}\,.\tag{3.47}$$

For the negative helicity mode, this leads to a linearised curvature

$$R_{abcd}^{(-1)} = \left(\epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\epsilon_{\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}}a_{(\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}\lambda_{\gamma}\lambda_{\delta)} + \frac{1}{2}\epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\epsilon_{\gamma\delta}\lambda_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}\tilde{a}_{(\dot{\gamma}}\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\delta})} + \frac{1}{2}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\epsilon_{\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}}\lambda_{\gamma}\lambda_{\delta}\tilde{a}_{(\dot{\alpha}}\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta})}\right)e^{ik\cdot x} .$$
(3.48)

The first term is a linearised ASD Weyl spinor, corresponding to the desired behaviour of (3.28), while the other two terms are contributions from a linearised Ricci tensor

$$\Phi_{\alpha\beta}^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} = \frac{1}{2} \lambda_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta} \,\tilde{a}^{(\dot{\alpha}}\tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\beta})} \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}k\cdot x} \,. \tag{3.49}$$

These Ricci tensor contributions can be removed by a conformal transformation, and will thus decouple from any scattering amplitude calculations.

In [28], it was shown that certain 'non-minimal' conformal gravities obey double copy, in the sense that kinematic numerators of the theory's scattering amplitudes can be constructed by tensoring together kinematic numerators from two different gauge theories [49, 50]. The two gauge theories which form the basis for the conformal supergravity double copy are Yang-Mills theory and a gauge theory with four-derivative equations of motion and a coupling constant of mass dimension +1. The kinetic term of this latter theory is schematically $(DF)^2$, where D is the gauge covariant derivative and F is the field strength. This $(DF)^2$ gauge theory has an ambitwistor string description [51] and also plays an interesting role in the construction of scattering amplitudes in heterotic and bosonic string theory [52].

There are important differences between non-minimal conformal gravity and the standard 'minimal' conformal gravity we study,¹⁰ but at the linearised level there is no distinction and we expect some remnant of the double copy to be visible in the polarization data. Indeed, in double copy the polarizations of the gravitational theory should be expressible as symmetric products of the polarizations in the appropriate gauge theories. In Yang-Mills theory, one has only the negative and positive helicity gluon polarization vectors, which are given in spinor helicity form by:

$$e_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}^{(-1)} = \lambda_{\alpha} \,\tilde{a}_{\dot{\alpha}} \,, \qquad e_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}^{(+1)} = \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} \,a_{\alpha} \,. \tag{3.50}$$

It is easy to see that taking symmetric squares of these polarization vectors generates the positive and negative helicity Einstein graviton polarizations (3.45) (as well as two scalar polarizations, corresponding to a dilaton and axion, as expected from the double copy). But what about the polarization data corresponding to the four-derivative gauge theory of [28]? The linearised equations of motion for this four-derivative theory are

$$\Box \partial_a F^{ab} = 0, \qquad (3.51)$$

 $^{^{10}}$ In particular, non-minimal conformal gravities have additional scalars which couple to the graviton through an arbitrary function, cf. [1, 22, 53–55].

where F^{ab} is the field strength of a gauge potential. Clearly, gluons are a consistent subsector of solutions to these equations, so we get another copy of the gluon polarizations (3.50). There are also two spin-1 growing modes (one each of negative and positive helicity): $A_a^g \sim B_a n \cdot x e^{i k \cdot x}$, for some polarization B_a and time-like vector n^a ; such modes are excluded from the set of acceptable scattering states.

Finally, the theory also includes purely oscillatory solutions with a polarization

$$e_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}^{(0)} = a_{\alpha}\,\tilde{a}_{\dot{\alpha}}\,. \tag{3.52}$$

The little group weight of this polarization indicates that it corresponds to a scalar degree of freedom; this is confirmed by computing the linear field strength associated with (3.52),

$$F_{ab}^{(0)} = i \left(\epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} \,\lambda_{(\alpha} \,a_{\beta)} + \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \,\tilde{\lambda}_{(\dot{\alpha}} \,\tilde{a}_{\dot{\beta})} \right) e^{i \,k \cdot x} \,, \tag{3.53}$$

which is helicity zero, having both SD and ASD parts (of equal magnitude).

From this, we conclude that there are five on-shell d.o.f. in the $(DF)^2$ theory. The spectrum consists of: positive and negative helicity (Yang-Mills) gluons; positive and negative helicity spin-1 growing modes; and a scalar which obeys the four-derivative equations of motion in a strict sense. Taking symmetric products between the Yang-Mills polarizations (3.50) and the polarizations of the scattering states in $(DF)^2$ theory gives precisely the polarizations (3.45), (3.47) for the scattering states in conformal gravity (plus some expected scalars), as dictated by the double copy.

4 3-point amplitudes in conformal gravity

The twistor-spinor representation of scattering states for conformal gravity enables us to give a compact expression for all of the tree-level 3-point amplitudes in that theory. In two-derivative theories, Poincaré covariance means that a 3-point amplitude is uniquely fixed by specifying the helicities of the external particles [56]. The same is *not* true of a higher-derivative theory such as conformal gravity. The notion of an external scattering state of positive/negative helicity is not unique: one must additionally specify whether the state being scattered is an Einstein graviton or a spin-1 field. In terms of the twistor-spinor formalism, this is captured by the choice of helicity lowering/raising operator, B_A in (3.18) or A^A in (3.31).

Therefore, we expect any formula for 3-point amplitudes to depend explicitly on these helicity raising/lowering operators for each particle. Indeed, one can think of these operators as higher-derivative 'polarization' data for the external states in a scattering process. Amplitudes for the specific helicity states of conformal gravity are obtained by making explicit choices for these polarizations.

The only potentially non-vanishing 3-point amplitudes involve two positive helicity and one negative helicity external fields ($\overline{\text{MHV}}$) or two negative and one positive helicity external fields (MHV). This follows from the integrability of the self-duality equations. In the $\overline{\text{MHV}}$ configuration, momentum conservation dictates that all un-dotted momentum spinors are proportional ($\lambda_1 \propto \lambda_2 \propto \lambda_3$), so the amplitude is a function only of the dotted momentum spinors [56, 57]. The opposite is true of the MHV configuration, and the two should be related by complex conjugation (i.e., exchanging positive helicity for negative helicity).

The $\overline{\text{MHV}}$ 3-point amplitude of conformal gravity is given by:

$$\mathcal{M}_{3} = \varepsilon \left[A_{2} \cdot \widetilde{C}_{3} \left(B_{1} \cdot A_{3} \frac{[2\,3]^{4}}{[1\,2]\,[3\,1]^{2}} \right) + A_{3} \cdot \widetilde{C}_{2} \left(B_{1} \cdot A_{2} \frac{[2\,3]^{4}}{[1\,2]^{2}\,[3\,1]} \right) \right] \,\delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} \lambda_{i} \widetilde{\lambda}_{i} \right), \quad (4.1)$$

where ε is the dimensionless coupling constant, and particle 1 has been chosen to have negative helicity whilst 2 and 3 have positive helicity. The helicity raising/lowering operators for each particle can take any of the allowed scattering state forms; namely (3.37) or (3.38) for the raising operators, and (3.25) or (3.27) for the lowering operators. The differential operator \tilde{C}_{iA} is given by (3.32), and acts on everything to its right, including the momentum conserving delta function.

This formula can be derived directly from a formulation of conformal gravity in twistor space [34, 58, 59], which is summarized in appendix C. Alternatively, we can simply posit (4.1) and then check that it is correct. It is easy to see that (4.1) passes some basic consistency tests. The formula is linear in each of the external helicity raising/lowering operators, as expected. Further, combinations $A_i \cdot \tilde{C}_j$ and $B_i \cdot A_j$ have mass dimension zero, so the coefficient of the coupling constant and momentum conserving delta function has mass dimension +1, as required for a conformally invariant theory.

The first substantive check on (4.1) comes by evaluating it when the three external particles are all Einstein gravitons. Plugging in (3.37) and (3.25) results in:

$$\mathcal{M}_3(1^-, 2^+, 3^+) = 0. \tag{4.2}$$

This is the expected result: the embedding of Einstein gravity into conformal gravity ensures that the tree-level S-matrix of Einstein states in conformal gravity vanishes on a flat background [33, 59].

But what about more general scattering configurations? In particular, we are free to scatter any combination of Einstein gravitons and spin-1 modes. It is straightforward to show that the only non-vanishing results are in the configurations:

$$\mathcal{M}_{3}(a_{1}, 2^{+}, 3^{+}) = \varepsilon \,\kappa^{2} \,\frac{[2\,3]^{5} \,\langle a_{1}\,1\rangle}{[1\,2] \,[3\,1]} \,\delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} \lambda_{i} \tilde{\lambda}_{i}\right), \tag{4.3}$$

$$\mathcal{M}_3(a_1, \tilde{a}_2, 3^+) = \varepsilon \kappa \, \frac{[2\,3]^4 \langle a_1\,1\rangle \, [\tilde{a}_2\,2]}{[1\,2]^2} \, \delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{i=1}^3 \lambda_i \tilde{\lambda}_i\right),\tag{4.4}$$

with all others vanishing as a result of momentum conservation. Here, a_i and \tilde{a}_i are constant spinors parametrizing spin-1 modes in (3.27) and (3.38). The first of these (4.3) is anti-symmetric under the interchange of the two positive helicity Einstein gravitons: $\mathcal{M}_3(a_1, 2^+, 3^+) = -\mathcal{M}_3(a_1, 3^+, 2^+)$, which means that the amplitude is, in fact, zero by crossing-symmetry.

Therefore, it is only the amplitude (4.4) that is actually non-vanishing. Note that $\langle a_1 1 \rangle = 1$ and $[\tilde{a}_2 2] = 1$ thanks to the initial normalization of the external wave-functions,

meaning that explicit dependence on the constant spinors appearing in the helicity raising/lowering operators drops out of the gauge-invariant scattering amplitude:

$$\mathcal{M}_{3}(a_{1}, \tilde{a}_{2}, 3^{+}) = \varepsilon \kappa \frac{[2\,3]^{4}}{[1\,2]^{2}} \,\delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} \lambda_{i} \tilde{\lambda}_{i}\right).$$
(4.5)

Not surprisingly, the kinematic part of this expression matches the expected result for $\overline{\text{MHV}}$ amplitudes of helicity (-1, +1, +2) fields [56]. This is simply the vector-vector-graviton amplitude of Einstein-Maxwell theory, as expected from the two-derivative formulation conformal gravity given by (2.23).

This result (as well as the vanishing of all other external configurations for the $\overline{\text{MHV}}$ amplitude) has been confirmed by direct calculation from the conformal gravity action on space-time, using on-shell polarizations (3.45), (3.47). This proves that (4.1) is correct.

The helicity-conjugate MHV amplitudes are captured in the obvious way by the following analogue of (4.1)

$$\mathcal{M}_{3} = \varepsilon \left[B_{2} \cdot C_{3} \left(A_{1} \cdot B_{3} \frac{\langle 2 3 \rangle^{4}}{\langle 1 2 \rangle \langle 3 1 \rangle^{2}} \right) + B_{3} \cdot C_{2} \left(A_{1} \cdot B_{3} \frac{\langle 2 3 \rangle^{4}}{\langle 1 2 \rangle^{2} \langle 3 1 \rangle} \right) \right] \,\delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} \lambda_{i} \tilde{\lambda}_{i} \right), \quad (4.6)$$

with C_i^A the differential operator (3.20) acting on the on-shell momenta of particle *i*. When evaluated on specific configurations for the external states, the only non-vanishing result is the helicity conjugate of (4.5).

Observe that (4.1), (4.6) can also be evaluated — formally, at least — on growing modes. In this case, the resulting 3-point amplitudes are generically undefined in the expected sense: they are not supported on overall 4-momentum conservation due to the polynomial growth of the mode curvature, which manifests itself as derivatives of the overall momentum conserving delta function. Such highly distributional expressions for 3-point 'amplitudes' in conformal gravity have previously been computed in the context of twistor-string theory [60]. However, at 3-points there exists a special degenerate configuration involving a single growing mode which results in finite, well-defined amplitudes [61].

For the $\overline{\text{MHV}}$ sector, this configuration is given by a negative helicity growing mode and two positive helicity Einstein gravitons. To evaluate (4.1) on this configuration, we re-write the growing mode's twistor polarization as a momentum space differential operator:

$$B_{A}^{g} \to \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\beta}_{\dot{\alpha}} + \frac{\tilde{\beta}_{\dot{\beta}}}{2} \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}}} \\ -i \tilde{\beta}_{\dot{\beta}} \frac{\partial}{\partial k_{\alpha\dot{\beta}}} \end{pmatrix}.$$

$$(4.7)$$

The un-dotted entries of this polarization, proportional to a derivative with respect to the full external momentum, are what generically lead to the breaking of 4-momentum conservation in amplitudes involving the growing mode. But in this special configuration, these contributions decouple leaving:

$$\mathcal{M}_{3}(\tilde{\beta}_{1}, 2^{+}, 3^{+}) = \varepsilon \,\kappa^{2} \,[1 \,\tilde{\beta}_{1}] \,\frac{[2 \,3]^{6}}{[1 \,2]^{2} \,[3 \,1]^{2}} \,\delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} \lambda_{i} \tilde{\lambda}_{i}\right), \tag{4.8}$$

which matches the 'strange' 3-point amplitude of conformal gravity observed in [61].

Note that the existence of this well-defined amplitude involving a single growing mode should *not* be considered as evidence that growing modes should be included in the set of scattering states: in general, growing modes lead to un-defined scattering amplitudes. Rather, it demonstrates that certain degenerate configurations may exist in which scattering a fixed number of growing modes may 'accidentally' lead to finite amplitudes.¹¹

5 Free fields and 3-point amplitudes in CHS theory

The twistor-spinor formalism also encodes free CHS fields of any integer spin. Building on the example of conformal gravity, this allows us to write down a momentum eigenstate basis for the scattering states of CHS theory, which in turn translates into compact expressions for all 3-point tree amplitudes of the theory. To do this we work directly with the curvatures of the CHS gauge fields. The dynamical part of a spin-s CHS field is encoded in its linearised spin-s Weyl tensor, $C_{a(s)b(s)}$, which is of order s in derivatives of the potential, traceless on each symmetric s-tuple of indices, and anti-symmetric between the s-tuples [2] (see also [62, 63]). The symmetries of this Weyl tensor mean that it can be decomposed into anti-self-dual and self-dual (or negative and positive helicity) parts:

$$C_{a(s)b(s)} = \epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}_1 \dot{\beta}_1} \cdots \epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}_s \dot{\beta}_s} \Psi_{\alpha(s)\beta(s)} + \epsilon_{\alpha_1 \beta_1} \cdots \epsilon_{\alpha_s \beta_s} \Psi_{\dot{\alpha}(s)\dot{\beta}(s)}, \qquad (5.1)$$

where the spinors $\Psi_{\alpha(s)\beta(s)}$, $\widetilde{\Psi}_{\dot{\alpha}(s)\dot{\beta}(s)}$ are totally symmetric. In terms of these ASD and SD parts of the (linearised) higher spin curvature, the free field equations become

$$\partial^{\alpha(s)\dot{\alpha}(s)} \Psi_{\alpha(s)\beta(s)} = 0, \qquad \partial^{\beta(s)\dot{\beta}(s)} \widetilde{\Psi}_{\dot{\alpha}(s)\dot{\beta}(s)} = 0, \qquad (5.2)$$

generalizing the s = 2 Bach equations in (3.2).

5.1 Free fields and momentum eigenstates

Just as the 4-derivative equations of motion for conformal gravity can be obtained from twistor-spinors with a single twistor index, the 2s-derivative equations of motion for a free CHS field of spin s can be obtained from twistor-spinors with s - 1 twistor indices. Since this construction builds naturally on that for conformal gravity, our exposition will be much briefer than in the previous section; further details can also be found in [10, 12].

Let $\Gamma_{A(s-1)\beta(s+1)}$ be a twistor-spinor field with s-1 totally symmetric covariant twistor indices, and s+1 totally symmetric negative chirality spinor indices, which obeys the free field equation

$$D^{\beta\beta}\Gamma_{A(s-1)\beta(s+1)} = 0, \qquad (5.3)$$

where $D^{\beta\dot{\beta}}$ is the twistor connection (3.6) defined on a Minkowski background. The action of the twistor connection on multiple symmetric twistor indices follows from (3.9) by the Leibniz rule. Assuming that the component of $\Gamma_{A(s-1)\beta(s+1)}$ with all negative chirality

¹¹Note also that the quantum-mechanical definition of a growing mode as an asymptotic state will still be problematic even if the multi-linear piece of the classical action evaluated on the corresponding classical solution returns some finite result.

spinor indices obeys $\Gamma^{\alpha_1}{}_{\alpha(s-2)\alpha_1\beta(s)} = 0$, this component can be identified with a spin-s linearised ASD Weyl spinor:

$$\Gamma_{\alpha(s-1)\,\beta(s+1)} \equiv \Psi_{\alpha(s-1)\beta(s+1)}\,,\tag{5.4}$$

with $\Psi_{\alpha(s-1)\beta(s+1)}$ a totally symmetric negative chirality spinor.

Unpacking the equation of motion (5.3) in terms of the local twistor connection gives a system of s coupled equations for the components of $\Gamma_{A(s-1)\beta(s+1)}$ (cf. (3.11)–(3.14))

$$\partial^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\Psi^{\alpha(s-1)}{}_{\beta\gamma(s)} - \Gamma^{\dot{\beta}\alpha(s-1)}{}_{\gamma(s)} = 0,$$

$$\partial^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\Gamma^{\alpha(s-2)}{}_{\dot{\alpha}\beta\gamma(s)} - \Gamma^{\dot{\beta}\alpha(s-2)}{}_{\dot{\alpha}\gamma(s)} = 0,$$

$$\vdots \qquad (5.5)$$

$$\partial^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\dot{\alpha}(s-2)\beta\gamma(s)} - \Gamma^{\dot{\beta}\alpha}{}_{\dot{\alpha}(s-2)\gamma(s)} = 0,$$

$$\partial^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\Gamma_{\dot{\alpha}(s-1)\beta\gamma(s)} = 0.$$

Starting from the upper-most equation, each of these relations can be fed into the one below it, until all components of $\Gamma_{A(s-1)\beta(s+1)}$ except for $\Psi_{\alpha(s-1)\beta(s+1)}$ have been eliminated, leaving the single free field equation:

$$\partial^{\beta(s)\beta(s)}\Psi_{\alpha(s)\beta(s)} = 0.$$
(5.6)

This is precisely the negative helicity free field equation of CHS theory in (5.2), as desired.

For the positive helicity sector, the conjugate construction holds. That is, we begin with a twistor-spinor field $\widetilde{\Gamma}^{A(s-1)}{}_{\dot{\beta}(s+1)}$ obeying the obvious symmetry properties, and impose an equation of motion

$$D^{\beta\dot{\beta}} \,\widetilde{\Gamma}^{A(s-1)}{}_{\dot{\beta}(s+1)} = 0\,.$$
(5.7)

This equation is equivalent to a system of s coupled equations for the components of $\widetilde{\Gamma}^{A(s-1)}{}_{\dot{\beta}(s+1)}$, which imply

$$\partial^{\beta(s)\dot{\beta}(s)}\widetilde{\Psi}_{\dot{\alpha}(s)\dot{\beta}(s)} = 0, \qquad (5.8)$$

for the totally positive chirality spinor part of $\widetilde{\Gamma}^{A(s-1)}{}_{\dot{\beta}(s+1)}$.

The twistor-spinor representation of free CHS fields can now be used to provide explicit momentum eigenstate expressions for scattering states. As discussed in section 2, a spin-s CHS field has s(s+1) on-shell d.o.f., which are split evenly between negative and positive helicities. These d.o.f. can then be decomposed into growing and purely oscillatory modes; at spin s there are s(s-1) growing and 2s oscillatory modes. This decomposition is discussed in detail in appendix B.

Following the lesson of conformal gravity, we look for momentum eigenstate solutions which are obtained in a helicity raised/lowered manner from zero-rest-mass fields of lower spin. For a negative helicity spin-s CHS field, this means finding a twistor-spinor representative of the form:

$$\Gamma_{A(s-1)\,\beta(s+1)} = B_{A(s-1)}\,\lambda_{\beta(s+1)}\,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\,k\cdot x}\,,\tag{5.9}$$

where $B_{A(s-1)}$ is a generalisation of the helicity lowering operator (3.18) of conformal gravity, now an object with s-1 totally symmetric twistor indices. The field (5.9) obeys a constraint, derived from the twistor geometry:

$$C^{A_1} \Gamma_{A_1 A(s-2) \beta(s+1)} = 0, \qquad (5.10)$$

where C^A is the momentum space operator (3.20). This translates — with some mild assumptions akin to (3.22) — into a set of constraints on the helicity lowering operator:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}_1}} B_{\dot{\alpha}_1 A(s-2)} + \mathrm{i} \,\lambda_{\alpha_1} \,B^{\alpha_1}{}_{A(s-2)} = 0\,, \qquad (5.11)$$

which must hold for all values of the remaining s - 2 twistor indices.

These relations allow us to determine all of the components of $B_{A(s-1)}$ in terms of a set of negative chirality symmetric spinors:

$$B_{A(s-1)} \quad \leftrightarrow \quad \left\{ B, B^{\alpha}, B^{\alpha_1 \alpha_2}, \dots, B^{\alpha(s-1)} \right\} \,. \tag{5.12}$$

Sure enough, there are $\frac{s(s+1)}{2}$ d.o.f. in this set of symmetric spinors, matching the count for the negative helicity sector of CHS theory. The highest-rank spinor, $B^{\alpha(s-1)}$ encodes the CHS curvature via

$$\Psi_{\alpha(s)\beta(s)} = B_{(\alpha(s-1)}\,\lambda_{\alpha_s)}\,\lambda_{\beta(s)}\,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\,k\cdot x}\,,\tag{5.13}$$

with $B^{\alpha(s-1)}$ having mass dimension $\frac{1-s}{2}$. The remaining components of $B_{A(s-1)}$ are fixed by the set $\{B, \ldots, B^{\alpha(s-1)}\}$ through the relations

$$B_{\dot{\alpha}(k)}{}^{\alpha(s-k-1)} = \sum_{|I|=0}^{k} \left(-\frac{\mathrm{i}}{2}\right)^{|I|} \lambda_{\beta_{I}} \tilde{\lambda}_{(\dot{\alpha}_{I}} \frac{\partial^{k-|I|} B^{\beta_{I}\alpha(s-k-1)}}{\partial \tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}_{k-I}}}, \qquad (5.14)$$

for $k = 0, \ldots, s - 1$. The resulting components can be shown to satisfy (5.11).

The negative helicity spin-s scattering states are then obtained by making choices of $B^{\alpha(s-1)}$ which are constant (in position space), leading to purely oscillatory fields. Of course, these choices are not arbitrary: the resulting spinor field must satisfy the negative helicity field equation (5.6). One can show that there are s linearly independent choices which are purely oscillatory and solve the field equation (this also follows from the degree of freedom counting in appendix B). Labelling this family of solutions by an integer $h = 1, \ldots, s$, the helicity raising operator components and spinor fields are:

$$B_h^{\alpha(s-1)} = \kappa_h \, a^{(\alpha(s-h)} \, \lambda^{\alpha(h-1))} \,, \qquad \Psi_{\alpha(s)\beta(s)}^{(-h)} = \kappa_h \, a_{(\alpha(s-h)} \, \lambda_{\alpha(h)} \, \lambda_{\beta(s)}) \, \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i} \, k \cdot x} \,, \qquad (5.15)$$

where κ_h is a coupling constant of dimension 1 - h (by definition, $\kappa_1 = 1$), and $a^{\alpha(s-h)}$ is a totally symmetric constant spinor of dimension $\frac{h-s}{2}$ which satisfies $a_{\alpha(s-h)}\lambda^{\alpha(s-h)} \neq 0$. With the proviso that $a_{\alpha(s-h)}$ scales with the opposite little group weight to $\lambda_{\alpha(s-h)}$, it follows that $\Psi_{\alpha(s)\beta(s)}^{(-h)}$ has helicity -h.

The helicity lowering components associated with growing modes are also easily deduced from appendix B, but since these are not admissible scattering states we will not

treat them explicitly here. The positive helicity states are derived in a similar manner, with a helicity raising operator $A^{B(s-1)}$ determining a spin-s CHS field via:

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}^{B}{}_{\dot{\alpha}(s+1)} = A^{B(s-1)} \,\widetilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}(s+1)} \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\,k\cdot x} \,, \qquad \mathrm{D}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \widetilde{\Gamma}^{B(s-1)}{}_{\dot{\alpha}(s+1)} = 0 \,, \tag{5.16}$$

subject to the constraint

$$i\,\tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}_1}\,A^{\dot{\beta}_1B(s-2)} + \frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda_{\beta_1}}A_{\beta_1}^{B(s-2)} = 0\,.$$
(5.17)

As in the negative helicity case, this allows us to solve for all of the components of $A^{B(s-1)}$ in terms of a set of symmetric spinors,

$$A^{B(s-1)} \quad \leftrightarrow \quad \left\{ \tilde{A}, \, \tilde{A}^{\dot{\beta}}, \, \tilde{A}^{\dot{\beta}_{1}\dot{\beta}_{2}}, \, \dots, \, \tilde{A}^{\dot{\beta}(s-1)} \right\} \,, \tag{5.18}$$

via the relations

$$A_{\beta(k)}{}^{\dot{\beta}(s-k-1)} = \sum_{|I|=0}^{k} \left(-\frac{\mathrm{i}}{2}\right)^{|I|} \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}_{I}} \lambda_{(\beta_{I}} \frac{\partial^{k-|I|} \tilde{A}^{\dot{\alpha}_{I}\dot{\beta}(s-k-1)}}{\partial\lambda^{\beta_{k-I}}}.$$
(5.19)

The s independent scattering states, labelled by their integer helicity h = 1, ..., s are then given by:

$$\tilde{A}_{h}^{\dot{\beta}(s-1)} = \kappa_{h} \, \tilde{a}^{(\dot{\beta}(s-h))} \, \tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\beta}(h-1))}, \qquad \tilde{\Psi}_{\dot{\alpha}(s)\dot{\beta}(s)}^{(h)} = \kappa_{h} \, \tilde{a}_{(\dot{\alpha}(s-h))} \, \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}(h)} \, \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\beta}(s))} \, \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i} \, k \cdot x}, \qquad (5.20)$$

with $\tilde{a}^{\dot{\beta}(s-h)}$ a totally symmetric constant spinor of dimension $\frac{h-s}{2}$ obeying $\tilde{a}_{\dot{\beta}(s-h)}\tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\beta}(s-h)} \neq 0.$

5.2 3-point amplitudes of CHS theory

The twistor-spinor representation for CHS fields allows us to write expressions for *all* of the tree-level 3-point amplitudes of the theory. Once again, these 3-point amplitudes are either $\overline{\text{MHV}}$ or MHV. There are only mild constraints on the allowed spins of the external states: if particles 2 and 3 have the same helicity sign (positive for $\overline{\text{MHV}}$ and negative for MHV), then the spins of the three external states must obey:

$$s_1 \ge s_2, s_3, \qquad s_1 \le s_2 + s_3.$$
 (5.21)

For spins satisfying these constraints, the 3-point $\overline{\text{MHV}}$ amplitude reads:

$$\mathcal{M}_{3} \sim \mathcal{N}^{(\mathbf{s})} \left[\frac{(s_{2}-1)!}{(s_{1}-s_{3})!} A_{2}^{B_{K}(A_{J})} \tilde{C}_{3B_{K}} \left(B_{1A_{I}} A_{3}^{A_{I-J})} \frac{[2\,3]^{s_{1}+2}}{[1\,2]^{s_{1}-s_{2}+1}} \right) + (-1)^{s_{2}+s_{3}-s_{1}} \frac{(s_{3}-1)!}{(s_{1}-s_{2})!} A_{3}^{B_{K}(A_{I-J-K})} \tilde{C}_{2B_{K}} \left(B_{1A_{I}} A_{2}^{A_{J+K})} \frac{[2\,3]^{s_{1}+2}}{[1\,2]^{s_{3}}} \right) \right],$$

$$(5.22)$$

where the spin s_1 particle has negative helicity, the spin s_2 and spin s_3 particles have positive helicity, multi-index labels obey

$$|I| = s_1 - 1, \qquad |J| = s_1 - s_3, \qquad |K| = s_2 + s_3 - s_1 - 1, \qquad (5.23)$$

and

$$\mathcal{N}^{(\mathbf{s})} := \frac{1}{(s_2 + s_3 - s_1 - 1)!} \tag{5.24}$$

is a spin-dependent normalisation constant. In (5.22), we have stripped off an overall factor of the dimensionless CHS coupling constant ε as well as an overall momentum conserving delta function.

The only ingredients in this formula are the twistor 'polarizations' of each external particle

$$B_{1A(s_1-1)}, \quad A_2^{B(s_2-1)}, \quad A_3^{B(s_3-1)},$$

$$(5.25)$$

powers of the momentum space differential operator \tilde{C}_{iA} defined by (3.33), and contractions of the on-shell momentum spinors of each external particle.¹² As expected, (5.22) has the appropriate mass dimension for a scattering amplitude in a conformally invariant theory, and is linear in each particle's twistor polarization.

The amplitudes for specific helicity configurations of the external states are read off from this formula by inserting the appropriate twistor polarizations. For instance, using (5.15), (5.20) it is easy to see that the configuration in which each external state has helicity $\pm s_i$ leads to vanishing amplitudes:

$$\mathcal{M}_3(-s_1, s_2, s_3) = 0. \tag{5.26}$$

This is in line with the claim that the S-matrix of standard two-derivative massless HS states in CHS theory vanishes [11, 12, 23].

However, it is easy to see that there are other helicity configurations which lead to non-vanishing amplitudes. Consider the family of $\overline{\text{MHV}}$ amplitudes with the helicity configuration $(-h_{s_1}, s_2, s_3)$, where the negative helicity can take any of the values $-h_{s_1} = -1, \ldots, -s_1$. From (5.22), it can be seen that

$$\mathcal{M}_3(-h_{s_1}, s_2, s_3) = 0, \qquad \forall h_{s_1} = 2, \dots, s_1, \qquad (5.27)$$

while a non-vanishing amplitude is obtained for $h_{s_1} = 1$:

$$\mathcal{M}_{3}(-1_{s_{1}}, s_{2}, s_{3}) = \varepsilon \,\kappa_{s_{2}} \,\kappa_{s_{3}} \,\mathcal{K} \,\frac{[2\,3]^{s_{2}+s_{3}+1}}{[1\,2]^{s_{3}-s_{2}+1} \,[3\,1]^{s_{2}-s_{3}+1}} \,\delta^{(4)}\!\left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} \lambda_{i}\tilde{\lambda}_{i}\right) \,. \tag{5.28}$$

Here, there is an overall spin-dependent numerical factor

$$\mathcal{K} := \mathcal{N}^{(\mathbf{s})} \left(\frac{1}{2\mathbf{i}}\right)^{s_1 - 1} \left[(-1)^{s_1 - s_3} \frac{(s_2 - 1)!}{(s_1 - s_3)!} + (-1)^{s_2} \frac{(s_3 - 1)!}{(s_1 - s_2)!} \right], \tag{5.29}$$

and we have used the normalisation

$$a_1^{\alpha(s_1-1)} \lambda_{1\,\alpha(s_1-1)} = 1\,, \tag{5.30}$$

for the dimension $\frac{1-s_1}{2}$ constant spinor $a_1^{\alpha(s_1-1)}$ defining the helicity -1 mode of the spin s_1 field.

 $^{^{12}}$ Recall that only 'anti-holomorphic' square bracket contractions can appear in the $\overline{\text{MHV}}$ amplitude, as all angle bracket contractions vanish.

6 Scattering in AdS background

The underlying conformal invariance of CHS theory suggests that it should be possible to study 'scattering' of CHS fields on a background with a cosmological constant $\Lambda \neq 0$. In a de Sitter ($\Lambda > 0$) background, the analogue of a scattering amplitude is not uniquely defined (cf. [64–66]). There is a mathematically consistent S-matrix propagating data from past to future infinity, but its elements are physically unobservable. Alternatively, one can define 'scattering' in terms of the in-in formalism on the observable patch of dS. By contrast, in an anti-de Sitter ($\Lambda < 0$) background the notion of 'scattering' is uniquely defined in terms of boundary correlation functions.

For clarity, let us focus on an AdS₄ background with $\Lambda < 0$, where the analogue of a tree-level scattering amplitude is again defined in terms of a multi-linear piece of the classical action, evaluated on solutions to the linearised equations of motion with specified boundary behaviour. It should be noted that, at tree-level, AdS amplitudes obtained in this fashion are easily related to those obtained from the in-in formalism on dS space by an analytic continuation [66]. In any theory with (classical) conformal invariance, calculating such AdS 'amplitudes' at tree-level is equivalent to calculating the amplitude in a flat half-space (cf. [67]). In other words, the calculation of an AdS scattering amplitude in a conformally invariant theory is the same as in flat space, up to boundary conditions.

For a higher-derivative theory like CHS, the altered boundary conditions of AdS have important consequences. First of all, our classification of scattering states on a Minkowski background used the criteria that such states lead to amplitudes supported on momentum conservation. But AdS scattering amplitudes *never* manifest full momentum conservation as there is no global space-like Killing vector when $\Lambda < 0$. Instead, one expects momentum conservation only in the directions parallel to the AdS boundary; conservation in the direction transverse to the boundary is replaced by a singularity in the transverse momenta (cf. [66–69]). This means that our definition of a scattering state in AdS should be amended to be any solution to the free equations (linearised around AdS₄) which leads to finite multi-linear pieces of the action, consistent with momentum conservation *up to the AdS isometries*.

The second consequence is that there is a new dimensionful parameter Λ in play which was not available in Minkowski space. As we will see, this parameter allows us to construct new solutions to the linearised equations of motion which vanish in the flat space limit.

As above, we first discuss the case of the conformal gravity before generalising to the full CHS theory. Consider AdS_4 with the metric:¹³

$$\mathrm{d}s^2 = \frac{\mathrm{d}x_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\,\mathrm{d}x^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}}{(1+\Lambda\,x^2)^2}\,,\tag{6.1}$$

where $\Lambda < 0$ is the cosmological constant. In these coordinates, the AdS₄ boundary is the hypersurface (3-sphere) $1 + \Lambda x^2 = 0$ in the affine Minkowski space charted by $x^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$.

¹³This slightly non-standard looking AdS₄ metric is just the analytic continuation $\Lambda \to -\Lambda$ of the standard S^4 metric, up to a rescaling of coordinates to take into account that $|\Lambda| = 3R^{-2}$ instead of $\frac{1}{4}R^{-2}$ in terms of the radius R of the sphere.

Working in the coordinates (6.1) is advantageous as there is a manifest and smooth flat space limit given by simply taking $\Lambda \to 0$. In this limit, the hypersurface $1 + \Lambda x^2 = 0$ approaches the conformal boundary \mathscr{I} of Minkowski space.

In this metric, the twistor connection for AdS_4 reads

$$D_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \nabla_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} + (\mathscr{A}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}})^{B}{}_{C} = \nabla_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \delta^{\gamma}_{\alpha} \, \delta^{\dot{\beta}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \\ \Lambda \, \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \, \epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\gamma}} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (6.2)$$

where $\nabla_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$ is the Levi-Civita connection of (6.1). The linearised Bach equations for negative and positive helicity free fields are expressed via the action of this connection on twistor-spinors as before:

$$\mathbf{D}^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\Gamma_{A\beta\gamma\delta} = \mathbf{D}^{\beta\dot{\beta}} \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{\dot{\alpha}\beta\gamma\delta} \\ \Psi^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma\delta} \end{pmatrix} = 0, \qquad \mathbf{D}^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\widetilde{\Gamma}^{A}{}_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} = \mathbf{D}^{\beta\dot{\beta}} \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{\Psi}^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} \\ \widetilde{\gamma}_{\alpha\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} \end{pmatrix} = 0.$$
(6.3)

In terms of the components of the twistor spinors, these equations are equivalent to

$$\nabla^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\gamma_{\dot{\alpha}\beta\gamma\delta} = 0\,,\qquad \nabla^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\Psi^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma\delta} - \gamma^{\dot{\beta}\alpha}{}_{\gamma\delta} = 0\,,\qquad(6.4)$$

$$\nabla^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\tilde{\Psi}^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} - \tilde{\gamma}^{\beta\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} = 0\,,\qquad\qquad \nabla^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\tilde{\gamma}_{\alpha\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}} = 0\,.\tag{6.5}$$

As in Minkowski space, these relations can be used to eliminate the fields $\gamma_{\dot{\alpha}\beta\gamma\delta}$ and $\tilde{\gamma}_{\alpha\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}}$ leaving only the usual linearised Bach equations in terms of the Weyl spinors

$$\nabla^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\nabla^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\Psi_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = 0 = \nabla^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\nabla^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\widetilde{\Psi}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}}.$$
(6.6)

Although the twistor-spinor formalism carries over to AdS_4 , our previous basis of momentum eigenstate solutions does not. To see this, it is useful to exploit the conformal flatness of AdS_4 to rewrite the equations (6.4) – (6.5) in affine Minkowski coordinates (cf. [70]). For the negative helicity sector one finds (the positive helicity sector is given by the obvious conjugation)

$$\partial^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\gamma_{\dot{\alpha}\beta\gamma\delta} + \frac{2\Lambda}{1+\Lambda x^2} \left(x^{\beta}{}_{\dot{\alpha}} \gamma^{\dot{\beta}}{}_{\beta\gamma\delta} - x^{\beta\dot{\beta}} \gamma_{\dot{\alpha}\beta\gamma\delta} \right) = 0, \qquad (6.7)$$

$$\partial^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\Psi^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma\delta} - \frac{2\Lambda}{1+\Lambda x^2} x^{\beta\dot{\beta}} \Psi^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma\delta} = \frac{\gamma^{\beta\alpha}{}_{\gamma\delta}}{1+\Lambda x^2}, \qquad (6.8)$$

where all spinor indices are now raised and lowered with the usual Levi-Civita symbols. As in flat space, we want to classify linearly independent solutions to these coupled equations of plane wave form, encoded by a twistor-spinor

$$\Gamma_{A\beta\gamma\delta} = B_A \,\lambda_\beta \lambda_\gamma \lambda_\delta \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\,k\cdot x}\,,\tag{6.9}$$

where B_A is a helicity lowering operator.

Of course, the 2-derivative Einstein graviton solution remains for $\Lambda < 0$, although the helicity lowering operator picks up a non-trivial dotted component (cf. (3.25))

Einstein:
$$B_A = \kappa \begin{pmatrix} 2\Lambda x_{\beta\dot{\alpha}} \lambda^{\beta} \\ \lambda^{\alpha} \end{pmatrix}$$
. (6.10)

Similarly, the spin-1 mode is given by a deformation of its flat space form (3.27)

Spin-1:
$$B_A = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{i}{2} \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} \langle \lambda \, a \rangle - \Lambda \, x^{\beta \dot{\alpha}} \, a_{\beta} \\ a^{\alpha} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (6.11)$$

where a^{α} is the same mass-dimension $-\frac{1}{2}$ constant spinor that appeared in (3.27).

However, a straightforward calculation reveals that the mode (3.29) can *not* be deformed into a solution of the equations of motion (6.7)–(6.8) when $\Lambda \neq 0$. Instead, we find an additional spin 2 mode:

Spin-2:
$$B_A = \Lambda \kappa \begin{pmatrix} x^{\beta}{}_{\dot{\alpha}} \lambda_{\beta} \\ \frac{i}{2} x^2 \lambda^{\alpha} \end{pmatrix}$$
. (6.12)

Although this mode has quadratic polynomial dependence on the space-time coordinates, it does not make sense to refer to it as a 'growing' mode in AdS₄. Indeed, on the AdS boundary $x^2 = -\frac{1}{\Lambda}$ the curvature associated with this mode is perfectly finite.¹⁴

At this point, it is clear that Minkowski space is a singular background from the perspective of perturbative conformal gravity: the spin two mode (6.12) disappears in the flat space limit, where it is replaced by the growing mode (3.29) which exists only when $\Lambda = 0$. This is a reflection of the well-known 'linearization instability' of conformal gravity [71]. The truncation to scattering states in Minkowski space removes precisely these problematic modes from the external states of well-defined amplitudes. However, it may be the case that the space of scattering states is enlarged away from $\Lambda = 0$ to include the spin 2 states (6.12).

Having obtained a basis of linearised states on AdS_4 , one can now consider their 'scattering.' We leave a more general analysis of this problem to future work, but conjecture that the 3-point amplitude expressions (4.1), (4.6) remain valid in AdS_4 , up to potential boundary contributions to the AdS amplitude. To support this conjecture, we consider the scattering of three Einstein modes; the on-shell relationship between conformal gravity with Neumann boundary conditions and the (renormalized) Einstein-Hilbert action [33, 72] indicates that this should produce a result which is proportional to the Minkowski space scattering amplitudes of Einstein gravity, where the constant of proportionality is Λ .

At first, it may seem that the twistor polarization (6.10) for an Einstein mode is unsuitable for our 3-point amplitude formulae. These are momentum space formulae, but the twistor polarization of the Einstein mode is now a function of x as well as the momenta. Fortunately, this can be rectified by remembering that the twistor polarizations — interpreted as helicity lowering/raising operators — should be thought of as acting on momentum eigenstates. This means that we can replace the linear x-dependence in (6.10) with a momentum space derivative. The resulting positive and negative helicity Einstein polarizations are then

$$A^{A} = \kappa \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}} \\ -2i\Lambda \frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda^{\alpha}} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad B_{A} = \kappa \begin{pmatrix} -2i\Lambda \frac{\partial}{\partial\tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}}} \\ \lambda^{\alpha} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (6.13)$$

which are suitable for evaluation in the formulae (4.1), (4.6).

¹⁴Note that the above spin-1 (6.11) and spin-2 (6.12) modes taken together represent the well-known partially-massless graviton mode [21] that has only scalar gauge invariance and thus carries 5 - 1 = 4 effective degrees of freedom.

In the $\overline{\text{MHV}}$ configuration of (4.1), note that

$$A_2 \cdot \widetilde{C}_3 = \kappa \left([2\,3] - 2\Lambda \left\langle \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_3} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_2} \right\rangle \right), \qquad B_1 \cdot A_3 = -2\,\mathrm{i}\,\Lambda\,\kappa^2 \left(\widetilde{\lambda}_3^{\dot{\alpha}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \widetilde{\lambda}_1^{\dot{\alpha}}} + \lambda_1^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_3^{\alpha}} \right), \tag{6.14}$$

and similarly for contractions with different particle labels. Feeding these into (4.1), one obtains

$$\mathcal{M}_{3}^{\Lambda}(1^{-}, 2^{+}, 3^{+}) = -2\mathrm{i}\,\Lambda\,\kappa^{3}\,\varepsilon \left[\left([2\,3] - 2\Lambda\,\left\langle \frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda_{3}}\,\frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda_{2}}\right\rangle \right) \frac{[2\,3]^{5}}{[1\,2]^{2}\,[3\,1]^{2}} + \left([3\,2] - 2\Lambda\,\left\langle \frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda_{2}}\,\frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda_{3}}\right\rangle \right) \frac{[2\,3]^{5}}{[1\,2]^{2}\,[3\,1]^{2}} \right]\,\delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3}\lambda_{i}\tilde{\lambda}_{i}\right), \quad (6.15)$$

since λ -derivatives in the $B \cdot A$ contractions do not contribute. The remaining differential operators act only on the overall 4-momentum delta function, which means that we can make the replacement

$$\left\langle \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_3} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_2} \right\rangle = \frac{[3\,2]}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial K_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}} \frac{\partial}{\partial K^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}}, \qquad K^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} := (\lambda_1\,\tilde{\lambda}_1 + \lambda_2\,\tilde{\lambda}_2 + \lambda_3\,\tilde{\lambda}_3)^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}. \tag{6.16}$$

The wave operator in the total momenta can be denoted by $\Box_K = \frac{\partial}{\partial K_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}} \frac{\partial}{\partial K^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}}$. This reduces the expression for the $\overline{\text{MHV}}$ amplitude on AdS_4 to

$$\mathcal{M}_{3}^{\Lambda}(1^{-}, 2^{+}, 3^{+}) = -4\mathrm{i}\,\Lambda\,\kappa^{3}\,\varepsilon\,\frac{[2\,3]^{6}}{[1\,2]^{2}\,[3\,1]^{2}}\,(1+\Lambda\Box_{K})\,\delta^{(4)}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{3}\lambda_{i}\tilde{\lambda}_{i}\right).$$
(6.17)

Note that the leading coefficient of Λ is precisely the flat space $\overline{\text{MHV}}$ 3-point amplitude of Einstein gravity, as required by the embedding of Einstein gravity inside the conformal gravity. Also, the differential operator $(1 + \Lambda \Box_K)$ explicitly breaks 4-momentum conservation, as expected for AdS amplitudes. It is easy to see that this is compatible with the metric (6.1), confirming that the Einstein gravitons within the conformal gravity are good AdS scattering states.

This gives an additional perspective on the vanishing of the amplitudes for the Einstein sector of conformal gravity in Minkowski space, which arises by taking the $\Lambda \rightarrow 0$ limit of (6.17). In other words, the tree-level S-matrix of conformal gravity evaluated on Einstein states is zero in an interesting way: it is zero *times* the tree-level S-matrix of the Einstein theory. More generally, the normalised amplitude

$$\frac{\mathrm{i}\,\mathcal{M}_{3}^{\Lambda}(1^{-},2^{+},3^{+})}{4\varepsilon\,\kappa^{2}\,\Lambda} = \frac{[2\,3]^{6}}{[1\,2]^{2}\,[3\,1]^{2}}\left(1+\Lambda\Box_{K}\right)\delta^{(4)}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{3}\lambda_{i}\tilde{\lambda}_{i}\right),\tag{6.18}$$

agrees with a formula obtained for the 'bulk contribution' to the 3-point $\overline{\text{MHV}}$ amplitude of Einstein gravity in AdS_4 [73, 74]. This 'bulk contribution' does not include boundary contributions to the full AdS amplitude, but manifests a smooth flat space limit, where such boundary contributions decouple [75]. For completeness, the MHV 3-point AdS amplitude evaluated on Einstein states is given by the obvious helicity conjugate of (6.17)

$$\mathcal{M}_{3}^{\Lambda}(1^{+}, 2^{-}, 3^{-}) = -4\mathrm{i}\,\Lambda\,\kappa^{3}\,\varepsilon\,\frac{\langle 2\,3\rangle^{6}}{\langle 1\,2\rangle^{2}\,\langle 3\,1\rangle^{2}}\,(1+\Lambda\Box_{K})\,\delta^{(4)}\!\left(\sum_{i=1}^{3}\lambda_{i}\tilde{\lambda}_{i}\right),\tag{6.19}$$

obtained by evaluating (4.6) on the polarizations (6.13).

A similar phenomenon occurs for the 'scattering' of general CHS fields on an AdS_4 background. Ignoring the rest of the spectrum, the two-derivative helicity $\pm s$ states of CHS theory are represented on AdS by the twistor polarizations:

$$A^{A(s-1)} = \kappa_s \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}(s-1)} \\ (-2i\Lambda)^{s-1} \frac{\partial^{s-1}}{\partial \lambda^{\alpha(s-1)}} \end{pmatrix}, \quad B_{A(s-1)} = \kappa_s \begin{pmatrix} (-2i\Lambda)^{s-1} \frac{\partial^{s-1}}{\partial \tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}(s-1)}} \\ \lambda^{\alpha(s-1)} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (6.20)$$

where κ_s is the dimension 1-s coupling associated with a massless spin-s field. Evaluating the $\overline{\text{MHV}}$ 3-point formula (5.22) on these polarizations results in:

$$\mathcal{M}_{3}^{\Lambda}(-s_{1}, s_{2}, s_{3}) = \Lambda^{s_{1}-1} \varepsilon \kappa_{s_{1}} \kappa_{s_{2}} \kappa_{s_{3}} \frac{\mathfrak{n}^{(\mathbf{s})} [2\,3]^{s_{1}+s_{2}+s_{3}}}{[1\,2]^{s_{1}-s_{2}+s_{3}} [3\,1]^{s_{1}+s_{2}-s_{3}}} \times (1 + \Lambda \Box_{K})^{s_{2}+s_{3}-s_{1}-1} \delta^{(4)} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} \lambda_{i} \tilde{\lambda}_{i}\right), \qquad (6.21)$$

with the spin-dependent normalisation

$$\mathfrak{n}^{(\mathbf{s})} := \left(1 + (-1)^{s_2 + s_3 - s_1}\right) \frac{(-2i)^{s_1 - 1}}{(s_2 + s_3 - s_1 - 1)!} \frac{(s_1 - s_2 + s_3 - 1)! (s_1 + s_2 - s_3 - 1)!}{(s_1 - s_2)! (s_1 - s_3)!}.$$
(6.22)

This matches the result found in [12] for the AdS_4 3-point \overline{MHV} amplitude, and is proportional to the flat space 3-point amplitude for massless two-derivative higher spin fields. The overall constant factor Λ^{s_1-1} suggests that there may be a way to isolate the treelevel S-matrix of a massless higher spin theory within the AdS amplitudes of CHS theory, analogous to the embedding of the Einstein gravity inside of the conformal gravity.

Acknowledgments

We thank Thales Azevedo, Henrik Johansson and Tristan McLoughlin for discussions and many helpful comments on a draft. TA thanks N. Arkani-Hamed for useful conversations at the beginning of this project. AAT is grateful to R. Metsaev for useful discussions of related questions. This work was partially supported by the STFC grant ST/P000762/1. TA is supported by an Imperial College Junior Research Fellowship. AAT was also supported by the Russian Science Foundation grant 14-42-00047 at Lebedev Institute.

A Helicity structure of conformal graviton modes

Here we give some details concerning the claim in section 2.2 that the helicity decomposition of on-shell conformal graviton states is gauge-dependent at the level of the (linearised) metric.

Consider A_{ab} and B_{ab} from (2.15) in a particular frame, where $k^a = (\omega, 0, 0, \omega)$ and choose the unit time-like vector as $n^a = (1, 0, 0, 0)$. Helicity is then determined by the behaviour under rotations in the plane transverse to x^3 :

$$\mathbf{R} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \cos\theta & \sin\theta & 0 \\ 0 & -\sin\theta & \cos\theta & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Introduce the helicity basis tensors:

$$T^{\pm\pm} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \pm i & 0 \\ 0 & \pm i & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad T^{\pm} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & \pm i & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \pm i & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \tilde{T}^{\pm} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \pm i \\ 0 & 1 & \pm i & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(A.1)

These satisfy:

 $\mathbf{R}T^{\pm\pm}\mathbf{R}^T = e^{\pm 2i\theta}T^{\pm\pm}, \qquad \mathbf{R}T^{\pm}\mathbf{R}^T = e^{\pm i\theta}T^{\pm}, \qquad \mathbf{R}\tilde{T}^{\pm}\mathbf{R}^T = e^{\pm i\theta}\tilde{T}^{\pm}, \qquad (A.2)$

indicating that T^{\pm} and \tilde{T}^{\pm} represent helicity ± 1 tensors, while $T^{\pm\pm}$ are helicity ± 2 tensors.

Choosing the conformal gauge (2.12), (2.16), specializing to the above momentum frame and fixing the residual gauge (2.17), one finds that

$$A^{ab} = (A^{++}T^{++} + A^{--}T^{--})^{ab} + (A^{+}T^{+} + A^{-}T^{-})^{ab} ,$$

$$B^{ab} = (B^{++}T^{++} + B^{--}T^{--})^{ab} ,$$
(A.3)

where A^{++} , A^{--} , B^{++} , B^{--} and A^{\pm} are 6 free independent polarization constants.

Doing the same in the TT gauge (2.18), (2.19), (2.20) leads to

$$A^{ab} = \left(A^{++}T^{++} + A^{--}T^{--}\right)^{ab} + \left(A^{+}(T^{+} - \tilde{T}^{+}) + A^{-}(T^{-} - \tilde{T}^{-})\right)^{ab},$$

$$B^{ab} = \left(B^{++}T^{++} + B^{--}T^{--}\right)^{ab} - 2i\omega\left(A^{+}(T^{+} + \tilde{T}^{+}) + A^{-}(T^{-} + \tilde{T}^{-})\right)^{ab}.$$
 (A.4)

While in the conformal gauge (A.3) the helicity ± 1 states appear only in the oscillatory A-mode, in the TT gauge (A.4) they are also present in the growing B-mode. Note that it is also possible to make a gauge choice for which the helicity ± 1 states appear only in the growing part of the potential.

B Counting CHS degrees of freedom

In this appendix we demonstrate the counting of on-shell states for the spin-s CHS field by working directly with (gauge-invariant) field strengths. Let us focus, e.g., on the negative helicity sector. The linearised CHS equations of motion in this sector are (cf. (5.2))

$$\partial^{\alpha(s)\dot{\alpha}(s)} \Psi_{\alpha(s)\beta(s)} = 0, \qquad (B.1)$$

with the spinor $\Psi_{\alpha(s)\beta(s)}$ carrying mass dimension +1. Our goal is to count linearly independent solutions to these equations; we work in a momentum eigenstate basis and in a gauge where solutions take a 'helicity lowered' form:

$$\Psi_{\alpha(s)\beta(s)} = B_{(\alpha(s-1)}\lambda_{\alpha_s)}\lambda_{\beta(s)}e^{i\,k\cdot x} . \tag{B.2}$$

One simple solution is the standard zero-rest-mass field of helicity -s:

$$\Psi_{\alpha(s)\beta(s)}^{(-s)} = \kappa_s \,\lambda_{\alpha(s)} \,\lambda_{\beta(s)} \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\,k\cdot x}\,,\tag{B.3}$$

where κ_s is the mass dimension 1 - s coupling constant associated with a massless, twoderivative higher spin field. Another solution is provided by

$$\Psi_{\alpha(s)\beta(s)}^{(-1)} = a_{(\alpha(s-1)} \lambda_{\alpha_s} \lambda_{\beta(s)}) e^{i k \cdot x}, \qquad (B.4)$$

where $a^{\alpha(s)}$ is a constant totally symmetric spinor of mass dimension $\frac{1-s}{2}$ which obeys $a_{\alpha(s)}\lambda^{\alpha(s)} \neq 0$. Counting the little group weight in (B.4) indicates that this solution corresponds to a field of helicity -1.

It is now easy to see that a family of s purely oscillatory solutions is built by taking:

$$\Psi_{\alpha(s)\beta(s)}^{(-h)} = \kappa_h \, a_{(\alpha(s-h)} \, \lambda_{\alpha(h)} \, \lambda_{\beta(s)}) \, \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i} \, k \cdot x} \,, \qquad h = 1, \dots, s \,, \tag{B.5}$$

where κ_h has mass dimension 1 - h and the constant spinor $a^{\alpha(s-h)}$ has mass dimension $\frac{h-s}{2}$ and obeys $a_{\alpha(s-h)}\lambda^{\alpha(s-h)} \neq 0$. Each such solution is purely oscillatory, and $\Psi^{(-h)}$ corresponds to a field of helicity -h. These are precisely the *s* negative helicity scattering states of CHS field of spin *s*.

This leaves us to account for the $\frac{s(s-1)}{2}$ growing states which must make up the remainder of the negative helicity sector. To do this, we first construct the solution of (B.4) with the highest possible polynomial growth:

$$\Psi_{\alpha(s)\beta(s)}^{g(-s)} = \lambda_{(\beta(s)} \lambda_{\alpha_1} x_{\alpha(s-1)})^{\dot{\alpha}(s-1)} \tilde{\beta}_{\dot{\alpha}(s-1)} e^{ik \cdot x}, \qquad (B.6)$$

where $\tilde{\beta}_{\dot{\alpha}(s-1)}$ has mass dimension $\frac{s-1}{2}$ and is constrained so that $\tilde{\beta}_{\dot{\alpha}(s-1)}\tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}(s-1)} \neq 0$. Counting little group weights tells us that this is a field of helicity -s. A further s-2 helicity -s growing fields can be constructed by replacing powers of x with insertions of λ . As the number of insertions of λ increases, the growth of the field weakens. For example, the helicity -s mode with $O(x^{s-l})$ growth is given by:

$$\Psi_{\alpha(s)\beta(s)}^{g(-s)} = \kappa_l \lambda_{(\beta(s)} \lambda_{\alpha(l)} x_{\alpha(s-l)})^{\dot{\alpha}(s-2)} \tilde{\beta}_{\dot{\alpha}(s-l)} e^{ik \cdot x}, \qquad (B.7)$$

for $\tilde{\beta}_{\dot{\alpha}s-l}$ of mass dimension $\frac{s-l}{2}$. As $1 \leq l \leq s-1$, it is clear that there are in total s-1 growing modes of helicity -s.

A similar method works for growing modes of helicities -h for $2 \leq h < s$. In each case, we simply have to count the number of ways in which the *s*-tuple of spinor indices $\alpha(s)$ can be partitioned among λ_{α} , a_{α} , or $x_{\alpha}{}^{\dot{\alpha}}{}^{\dot{\beta}}{}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ insertions. The construction terminates at helicity -2, with a single growing field of the form

$$\Psi_{\alpha(s)\beta(s)}^{g(-2)} = \lambda_{(\beta(s))} \lambda_{\alpha_1} a_{\alpha(s-2)} x_{\alpha_s}{}^{\dot{\alpha}} \tilde{\beta}_{\dot{\alpha}} e^{ik \cdot x} .$$
(B.8)

At each stage, we see that there are h - 1 distinct forms for the growing mode of helicity -h, confirming formula (2.33) presented above.

C Deriving 3-point amplitudes from twistor space

The 3-point amplitude formulae presented in this paper can be derived in a systematic way from the formulation of CHS theory in twistor space [10, 12]. Here, we review the derivation of the $\overline{\text{MHV}}$ 3-point amplitude. This proceeds from the formulation of the selfdual sector of CHS theory in terms of an action functional on twistor space \mathbb{PT} , which is an open subset of the three-dimensional complex projective space \mathbb{CP}^3 , charted with homogeneous coordinates $Z^A = (\mu^{\dot{\alpha}}, \lambda_{\alpha})$. The variational data for this twistor action are cohomology classes

$$g_{A(s-1)} \in H^1(\mathbb{PT}, \mathcal{O}(-s-3)), \qquad f^{A(s-1)} \in H^1(\mathbb{PT}, \mathcal{O}(s-1)),$$
 (C.1)

which encode the ASD and SD d.o.f. of a spin s CHS field.

In [10, 12], it was shown that the SD sector of interacting CHS theory is described in twistor space by the action functional:

$$S_{\rm SD}[g,f] = \int_{\mathbb{PT}} \mathcal{D}^3 Z \wedge \sum_{|I|=0}^{\infty} g_{A_I} \wedge N^{A_I} , \qquad (C.2)$$

where D^3Z is the holomorphic volume form on \mathbb{PT} , and

$$N^{A_{I}} = \bar{\partial}f^{A_{I}} + \sum_{|J|=0}^{|I|} \sum_{|K|=0}^{\infty} \left(\begin{array}{c} |J| + |K| \\ |J| \end{array} \right) f^{B_{K}(A_{J}} \wedge \frac{\partial^{|K|} f^{A_{I-J}}}{\partial Z^{B_{K}}}.$$
(C.3)

The $\overline{\text{MHV}}$ 3-point amplitude is given by extracting the cubic part of this action:

$$\int_{\mathbb{PT}} \mathcal{D}^{3}Z \wedge g_{1A_{I}} \wedge \left[\frac{(|J| + |K|)!}{|K|! |J|!} f_{2}^{B_{K}(A_{J}} \wedge \frac{\partial^{|K|} f_{3}^{A_{I-J}}}{\partial Z^{B_{K}}} + \frac{(|I| - |J|)!}{|K|! (|I| - |J| - |K|)!} f_{3}^{B_{K}(A_{I-J-K}} \wedge \frac{\partial^{|K|} f_{3}^{A_{J+K}}}{\partial Z^{B_{K}}} \right], \quad (C.4)$$

with the multi-indices taking values

$$|I| = s_1 - 1$$
, $|J| = s_1 - s_3$, $|K| = s_2 + s_3 - s_1 - 1$,

in terms of the spins of the external states.

To arrive at a purely momentum space expression, (C.4) is evaluated on the momentum eigenstates:

$$g_{1A(s_1-1)} = B_{1A(s_1-1)} \int dt_1 t_1^{s_1+2} \,\overline{\delta}^2(\lambda_1 - t_1 \,\lambda) \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i} \, t_1 \, [\mu \, 1]} \tag{C.5}$$

$$f_i^{B(s_i-1)} = A_i^{B(s_i-1)} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}t_i}{t_i^{s_i}} \bar{\delta}^2(\lambda_i - t_i\,\lambda) \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\,t_i\,[\mu\,i]}\,, \quad i = 2, 3\,. \tag{C.6}$$

It is easy to see that the action of twistor derivatives on these momentum eigenstates is

$$\frac{\partial^{|K|} f_3^{A_{I-J}}}{\partial Z^{B_K}} = \tilde{C}_{3B_K} A_3^{A_{I-J}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}t_3}{t_3^{s_3-|K|}} \,\bar{\delta}^2(\lambda_3 - t_3\,\lambda) \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\,t_3\,[\mu\,3]}\,, \tag{C.7}$$

where C_{B_K} is the momentum space operator (3.33). This enables us to express the amplitude as:

$$\mathcal{N}^{(\mathbf{s})} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}t_2 \, \mathrm{d}t_3}{t_2^{s_2} t_3^{s_3}} \left[\frac{(s_2 - 1)!}{(s_1 - s_3)!} A_2^{B_K(A_J} \tilde{C}_{3 B_K} B_{1 A_I} A_3^{A_{I-J})} t_3^{|K|} + (-1)^{s_2 + s_3 - s_1} \frac{(s_3 - 1)!}{(s_1 - s_2)!} A_3^{B_K(A_{I-J-K}} \tilde{C}_{2 B_K} B_{1 A_I} A_2^{A_{J+K})} t_2^{|K|} \right] \delta^{(2)}(\lambda_2 + t_2 \lambda_1) \\ \times \delta^{(2)}(\lambda_3 - t_3 \lambda_1) \, \delta^{(2)}(\tilde{\lambda}_1 + t_2 \, \tilde{\lambda}_2 + t_3 \, \tilde{\lambda}_3), \qquad (C.8)$$

where the overall projective scale has been used to fix $t_1 = 1$, and the integrals over twistor coordinates $d^2 \mu d^2 \lambda$ have been performed. At this point, the remaining integrals over dt_2 , dt_3 can be done against the delta functions $\delta^{(2)}(\tilde{\lambda}_1 + t_2 \tilde{\lambda}_2 + t_3 \tilde{\lambda}_3)$ to fix

$$t_2 = \frac{[3\,1]}{[2\,3]}, \qquad t_3 = \frac{[1\,2]}{[2\,3]}$$

The result of this procedure is precisely the formula (5.22) for the $\overline{\text{MHV}}$ amplitude in momentum space.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- E.S. Fradkin and A.A. Tseytlin, Conformal supergravity, Phys. Rept. 119 (1985) 233 [INSPIRE].
- [2] E.S. Fradkin and V. Ya. Linetsky, Cubic interaction in conformal theory of integer higher spin fields in four-dimensional space-time, Phys. Lett. B 231 (1989) 97 [INSPIRE].
- [3] A.A. Tseytlin, On limits of superstring in AdS₅ × S⁵, Theor. Math. Phys. 133 (2002) 1376 [hep-th/0201112] [INSPIRE].
- [4] A.Y. Segal, Conformal higher spin theory, Nucl. Phys. B 664 (2003) 59 [hep-th/0207212]
 [INSPIRE].
- [5] R.R. Metsaev, Ordinary-derivative formulation of conformal low spin fields, JHEP 01 (2012) 064 [arXiv:0707.4437] [INSPIRE].
- [6] R.R. Metsaev, Ordinary-derivative formulation of conformal totally symmetric arbitrary spin bosonic fields, JHEP 06 (2012) 062 [arXiv:0709.4392] [INSPIRE].
- [7] X. Bekaert, E. Joung and J. Mourad, *Effective action in a higher-spin background*, *JHEP* 02 (2011) 048 [arXiv:1012.2103] [INSPIRE].
- [8] A.A. Tseytlin, On partition function and Weyl anomaly of conformal higher spin fields, Nucl. Phys. B 877 (2013) 598 [arXiv:1309.0785] [INSPIRE].
- M. Beccaria, X. Bekaert and A.A. Tseytlin, Partition function of free conformal higher spin theory, JHEP 08 (2014) 113 [arXiv:1406.3542] [INSPIRE].
- [10] P. Hähnel and T. McLoughlin, Conformal higher spin theory and twistor space actions, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 485401 [arXiv:1604.08209] [INSPIRE].

- [11] M. Beccaria, S. Nakach and A.A. Tseytlin, On triviality of S-matrix in conformal higher spin theory, JHEP 09 (2016) 034 [arXiv:1607.06379] [INSPIRE].
- [12] T. Adamo, P. Hähnel and T. McLoughlin, Conformal higher spin scattering amplitudes from twistor space, JHEP 04 (2017) 021 [arXiv:1611.06200] [INSPIRE].
- M. Grigoriev and A.A. Tseytlin, On conformal higher spins in curved background, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 125401 [arXiv:1609.09381] [INSPIRE].
- [14] M. Beccaria and A.A. Tseytlin, On induced action for conformal higher spins in curved background, Nucl. Phys. B 919 (2017) 359 [arXiv:1702.00222] [INSPIRE].
- [15] H. Liu and A.A. Tseytlin, D = 4 superYang-Mills, D = 5 gauged supergravity and D = 4 conformal supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 533 (1998) 88 [hep-th/9804083] [INSPIRE].
- [16] R.R. Metsaev, Gauge invariant two-point vertices of shadow fields, AdS/CFT and conformal fields, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 106002 [arXiv:0907.4678] [INSPIRE].
- [17] S. Giombi et al., AdS description of induced higher-spin gauge theory, JHEP 10 (2013) 016
 [arXiv:1306.5242] [INSPIRE].
- [18] S. Giombi, I.R. Klebanov and B.R. Safdi, *Higher spin* AdS_{d+1}/CFT_d at one loop, *Phys. Rev.* **D** 89 (2014) 084004 [arXiv:1401.0825] [INSPIRE].
- [19] M. Beccaria and A.A. Tseytlin, Iterating free-field AdS/CFT: higher spin partition function relations, J. Phys. A 49 (2016) 295401 [arXiv:1602.00948] [INSPIRE].
- [20] K.S. Stelle, Classical gravity with higher derivatives, Gen. Rel. Grav. 9 (1978) 353 [INSPIRE].
- [21] S. Deser and R.I. Nepomechie, Anomalous propagation of gauge fields in conformally flat spaces, Phys. Lett. B 132 (1983) 321.
- [22] N. Berkovits and E. Witten, Conformal supergravity in twistor-string theory, JHEP 08 (2004) 009 [hep-th/0406051] [INSPIRE].
- [23] E. Joung, S. Nakach and A.A. Tseytlin, Scalar scattering via conformal higher spin exchange, JHEP 02 (2016) 125 [arXiv:1512.08896] [INSPIRE].
- [24] E. Conde and A. Marzolla, Lorentz constraints on massive three-point amplitudes, JHEP 09 (2016) 041 [arXiv:1601.08113] [INSPIRE].
- [25] E. Conde, E. Joung and K. Mkrtchyan, Spinor-helicity three-point amplitudes from local cubic interactions, JHEP 08 (2016) 040 [arXiv:1605.07402] [INSPIRE].
- [26] N. Arkani-Hamed, T.-C. Huang and Y.-t. Huang, Scattering amplitudes for all masses and spins, arXiv:1709.04891 [INSPIRE].
- [27] R.R. Metsaev, Interacting light-cone gauge conformal fields, arXiv:1612.06348 [INSPIRE].
- [28] H. Johansson and J. Nohle, *Conformal gravity from gauge theory*, arXiv:1707.02965 [INSPIRE].
- [29] I. Ya. Arefeva, L.D. Faddeev and A.A. Slavnov, Generating functional for the S matrix in gauge theories, Theor. Math. Phys. 21 (1975) 1165 [INSPIRE].
- [30] A. Jevicki and C.-k. Lee, The S matrix generating functional and effective action, Phys. Rev. D 37 (1988) 1485 [INSPIRE].
- [31] A. Pais and G.E. Uhlenbeck, On field theories with nonlocalized action, Phys. Rev. 79 (1950) 145 [INSPIRE].
- [32] C. Fronsdal, Massless fields with integer spin, Phys. Rev. D 18 (1978) 3624 [INSPIRE].
- [33] J. Maldacena, Einstein gravity from conformal gravity, arXiv:1105.5632 [INSPIRE].

- [34] T. Adamo and L. Mason, Conformal and Einstein gravity from twistor actions, Class. Quant. Grav. 31 (2014) 045014 [arXiv:1307.5043] [INSPIRE].
- [35] G. Anastasiou and R. Olea, From conformal to Einstein gravity, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 086008 [arXiv:1608.07826] [INSPIRE].
- [36] R.J. Riegert, The particle content of linearized conformal gravity, Phys. Lett. A 105 (1984) 110 [INSPIRE].
- [37] E.S. Fradkin and A.A. Tseytlin, One loop β-function in conformal supergravities, Nucl. Phys. B 203 (1982) 157 [INSPIRE].
- [38] S.C. Lee and P. van Nieuwenhuizen, Counting of states in higher derivative field theories, Phys. Rev. D 26 (1982) 934 [INSPIRE].
- [39] M. Kaku et al., Gauge theory of the conformal and superconformal group, Phys. Lett. B 69 (1977) 304.
- [40] E. Cartan, Les espaces a connexion conforme, Ann. Soc. Po. Math. 2 (1923) 171.
- [41] K. Dighton, An introduction to the theory of local twistors, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 11 (1974) 31.
- [42] H. Friedrich, Twistor connection and normal conformal Cartan connection, Gen. Rel. Grav. 8 (1977) 303.
- [43] R. Penrose and M.A.H. MacCallum, Twistor theory: An Approach to the quantization of fields and space-time, Phys. Rept. 6 (1972) 241 [INSPIRE].
- [44] R. Penrose and W. Rindler, Spinors and space-time, volume 2, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K. (1988).
- [45] L.J. Mason, The relationship between spin-2 fields, linearized gravity and linearized conformal gravity, in Further advances in twistor theory, L.J. Mason and L.P. Hughston eds., Longman, U.K. (1990).
- [46] L.J. Mason, Local twistors and the Penrose transform for homogeneous bundles, in Further advances in twistor theory, L.J. Mason and L.P. Hughston eds., Longman, U.K. (1990).
- [47] S.A. Merkulov, The twistor connection and gauge invariance principle, Commun. Math. Phys. 93 (1984) 325 [INSPIRE].
- [48] T. Adamo, Lectures on twistor theory, PoS Modave2017 (2018) 003 [arXiv:1712.02196] [INSPIRE].
- [49] Z. Bern, J.J.M. Carrasco and H. Johansson, New relations for gauge-theory amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 085011 [arXiv:0805.3993] [INSPIRE].
- [50] Z. Bern, J.J.M. Carrasco and H. Johansson, *Perturbative quantum gravity as a double copy of gauge theory*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **105** (2010) 061602 [arXiv:1004.0476] [INSPIRE].
- [51] T. Azevedo and O.T. Engelund, Ambitwistor formulations of R² gravity and (DF)² gauge theories, JHEP 11 (2017) 052 [arXiv:1707.02192] [INSPIRE].
- [52] T. Azevedo, M. Chiodaroli, H. Johansson and O. Schlotterer, *Heterotic and bosonic string amplitudes via field theory*, arXiv:1803.05452 [INSPIRE].
- [53] E.S. Fradkin and A.A. Tseytlin, Conformal anomaly in Weyl theory and anomaly free superconformal theories, Phys. Lett. B 134 (1984) 187.
- [54] D. Butter, F. Ciceri, B. de Wit and B. Sahoo, Construction of all N = 4 conformal supergravities, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 081602 [arXiv:1609.09083] [INSPIRE].
- [55] A.A. Tseytlin, On divergences in non-minimal N = 4 conformal supergravity, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 48LT01 [arXiv:1708.08727] [INSPIRE].

- [56] P. Benincasa and F. Cachazo, Consistency conditions on the S-matrix of massless particles, arXiv:0705.4305 [INSPIRE].
- [57] E. Witten, Perturbative gauge theory as a string theory in twistor space, Commun. Math. Phys. 252 (2004) 189 [hep-th/0312171] [INSPIRE].
- [58] L.J. Mason, Twistor actions for non-self-dual fields: A Derivation of twistor-string theory, JHEP 10 (2005) 009 [hep-th/0507269] [INSPIRE].
- [59] T. Adamo, Twistor actions for gauge theory and gravity, Ph.D. thesis, Oxford University, Oxford, U.K. (2013), arXiv:1308.2820 [INSPIRE].
- [60] L. Dolan and J.N. Ihry, Conformal supergravity tree amplitudes from open twistor string theory, Nucl. Phys. B 819 (2009) 375 [arXiv:0811.1341] [INSPIRE].
- [61] J. Broedel and B. Wurm, New twistor string theories revisited, Phys. Lett. B 675 (2009) 463
 [arXiv:0902.0550] [INSPIRE].
- [62] R. Marnelius, Lagrangian conformal higher spin theory, arXiv:0805.4686 [INSPIRE].
- [63] M.A. Vasiliev, Bosonic conformal higher-spin fields of any symmetry, Nucl. Phys. B 829 (2010) 176 [arXiv:0909.5226] [INSPIRE].
- [64] E. Witten, Quantum gravity in de Sitter space, talk given at the Strings 2001: International Conference, January 5–10, Mumbai, India (2001), hep-th/0106109 [INSPIRE].
- [65] A. Strominger, The dS/CFT correspondence, JHEP 10 (2001) 034 [hep-th/0106113]
 [INSPIRE].
- [66] J.M. Maldacena, Non-Gaussian features of primordial fluctuations in single field inflationary models, JHEP 05 (2003) 013 [astro-ph/0210603] [INSPIRE].
- [67] J.M. Maldacena and G.L. Pimentel, On graviton non-Gaussianities during inflation, JHEP
 09 (2011) 045 [arXiv:1104.2846] [INSPIRE].
- [68] S. Raju, New recursion relations and a flat space limit for AdS/CFT correlators, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 126009 [arXiv:1201.6449] [INSPIRE].
- [69] N. Arkani-Hamed and J. Maldacena, *Cosmological collider physics*, arXiv:1503.08043 [INSPIRE].
- [70] R. Penrose and W. Rindler, Spinors and space-time, volume 1, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K. (1986).
- [71] D.G. Boulware, G.T. Horowitz and A. Strominger, Zero energy theorem for scale invariant gravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 50 (1983) 1726 [INSPIRE].
- [72] M.T. Anderson, L² curvature and volume renormalization of AHE metrics on 4-manifolds, Math. Res. Lett. 8 (2001) 171 [math/0011051].
- [73] T. Adamo and L. Mason, Einstein supergravity amplitudes from twistor-string theory, Class. Quant. Grav. 29 (2012) 145010 [arXiv:1203.1026] [INSPIRE].
- [74] T. Adamo and L. Mason, Twistor-strings and gravity tree amplitudes, Class. Quant. Grav. 30 (2013) 075020 [arXiv:1207.3602] [INSPIRE].
- [75] T. Adamo, Gravity with a cosmological constant from rational curves, JHEP 11 (2015) 098 [arXiv:1508.02554] [INSPIRE].